A PHENOMENOLOGICAL STUDY OF THE LIVED EXPERIENCES OF INDIVIDUALS WITH INTELLECTUAL DISABILITIES AND THEIR PARTICIPATION IN POSTSECONDARY JOB TRAINING PROGRAMS: A QUALITATIVE STUDY

by

Jami Vickers Granberry

Liberty University

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment
Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University

2024

A PHENOMENOLOGICAL STUDY OF THE LIVED EXPERIENCES OF INDIVIDUALS WITH INTELLECTUAL DISABILITIES AND THEIR PARTICIPATION IN POSTSECONDARY JOB TRAINING PROGRAMS: A QUALITATIVE STUDY

by Jami Vickers Granberry

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment
Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University, Lynchburg, VA
2024

APPROVED BY:

Susan K. Stanley, EdD., Committee Chair Kathy K. Keafer, EdD., Committee Member

Abstract

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to describe the lived experiences of individuals with intellectual disabilities in an inclusive postsecondary education program. The theories that guided this study are Oliver's theory on the social model of disability and Vygotsky's theory of social constructivism. This study used a transcendental research design and employed the use of purposeful sampling to select participants who have all experienced the same phenomenon. There were 10 participants who have all had the same experience of attending an inclusive postsecondary education program. The setting took place at P.C.C. in the C.A. program. The central research question asked, what are the lived experiences of individuals with intellectual disabilities enrolled in inclusive postsecondary career and technical training programs located on a college campus? Data collection types included interviews, journal prompts, and focus groups. A system of coding along with epoché, horizontalization of data, and structural descriptions were used for data analysis to determine major themes from the data collected. The trustworthiness, results, and findings of the study are also discussed. Findings included five themes and two sub-themes. The five themes were education and career aspirations, concept of inclusion, inclusivity and social engagement, campus engagement and support networks, and sense of belonging. The two sub-themes were career and professional development and real-world application and practice. The dissertation then moves into an overall discussion of the interpretation of the findings, the implications of the study, limitations, delimitations, and recommendations for future research. The dissertation ends with a conclusion that summarizes the full study.

Keywords: inclusion, higher education, intellectual disabilities, postsecondary education, job training

Copyright Page

Copyright 2024, Jami Vickers Granberry

Dedication

I dedicate this dissertation to God; I am not sure I would have made it through without Him!

To my husband, Matt: You have made me want to be the best version of myself since meeting you. You have loved me through every stage, and I am very grateful.

To my family, who always encouraged me and pushed me to do my very best in everything. You all are the best cheerleaders!

To my children, Jaxson, Boone, Ada Jo, and Jameson: May you always reach for the stars and know you can do anything you put your mind to!

Acknowledgments

I could not have reached this goal without the help of many people in my life. I would like to take this opportunity to thank them for their support.

First, I would like to thank God, because without him I would have nothing.

Second, my sincere thanks to my dissertation committee. The value of their guidance cannot be overstated. Dr. Susan Stanley and Dr. Kathy Kaefer provided much wisdom that helped me chart my course.

Next, I'd like to thank my husband, Matt. I couldn't have done this without you.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge the emotional support provided by my family and friends. We made it to the top of the mountain! I look forward to celebrating with all of you.

Table of Contents

Abstract	3
Copyright Page	4
Dedication	5
Acknowledgments	6
Table of Contents	7
List of Tables	13
List of Abbreviations	14
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	15
Overview	15
Background	15
Historical Context	15
Social Context	17
Theoretical Context	19
Problem Statement	20
Purpose Statement	21
Significance of the Study	22
Theoretical Significance	22
Empirical Significance	23
Research Questions	24
Central Research Question	25
Sub-Question One	25
Sub-Question Two	25

Sub-Question Three	25
Definitions	25
Summary	26
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	27
Overview	27
Theoretical Framework	27
Related Literature	30
PSE Programs for Individuals With IDs	31
Barriers to Participation in Inclusive PSE Programs for Individuals With IDs	34
Employment Statistics for Individuals With IDs	39
Effects and Perspectives of Students With IDs in PSE Programs	41
Effects and Perspectives of Neurotypical Peers in Inclusive PSE Programs	45
Effects and Perspectives of Faculty Employed by Inclusive PSE Programs	48
Employment Effects and Perspectives of Individuals With IDs	52
Summary	56
CHAPTER THREE: METHODS	57
Overview	57
Research Design	57
Research Questions	59
Central Research Question	59
Sub-Question One	59
Sub-Question Two	59
Sub-Question Three	59

Setting and Participants	59
Setting	60
Participants	61
Researcher Positionality	61
Interpretive Framework	62
Philosophical Assumptions	62
Ontological Assumption	63
Epistemological Assumption	63
Axiological Assumption	64
Researcher's Role	64
Procedures	65
Permissions	65
Recruitment Plan	66
Data Collection Plan	67
Individual Interview Data Collection Approach	67
Journal Prompt Data Collection Approach	69
Focus Group Data Collection Approach	71
Data Synthesis	73
Trustworthiness	73
Credibility	74
Persistent Observation	74
Triangulation	75
Member Checking	75

Transferability	75
Dependability	76
Confirmability	76
Ethical Considerations	77
Summary	77
CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS	79
Overview	79
Participants	79
K.K	80
J.H	81
C.K	81
T.S	81
M.L	82
R.M	82
H.F	82
B.B	83
T.P	83
S.L	83
Results	84
Educational and Career Aspirations	84
Career and Professional Development	85
Real-World Application and Practice	85
Concept of Inclusion	86

Inclusivity and Social Engagement	86
Campus Engagement and Support Networks	87
Sense of Belonging	88
Outlier Data and Findings	89
Potential Areas of Improvement	89
Desire for More Inclusion	89
Research Question Responses	90
Central Research Question	90
Sub-Question One	91
Sub-Question Two	92
Sub-Question Three	93
Summary	93
CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION	95
Overview	95
Discussion	95
Summary of Thematic Findings	95
Interpretation of Findings	95
Promoting Educational and Career Aspirations	96
Enhancing Career and Professional Development	96
Addressing Inclusivity and Social Engagement on Campus	97
Fostering a Sense of Belonging	98
Facilitating Inclusion and Relationships With Neurotypical Peers	99

Supporting Relationships With Faculty Members Not Invo	olved With the C.A.
Program	99
Implications for Policy or Practice	100
Implications for Policy	100
Implications for Practice	102
Theoretical and Empirical Implications	104
Limitations and Delimitations	106
Recommendations for Future Research	107
Conclusion	108
References	109
Appendix A	142
Appendix B	144
Appendix C	145
Appendix D	147
Appendix E	150

List of Tables

Гable 1.	Student Participants	8	1
----------	----------------------	---	---

List of Abbreviations

Education for All Handicapped Children Act (EHA)

Higher Education Act (HEA)

Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA)

Intellectual Disabilities (IDs)

Postsecondary Education (PSE)

Vocational Rehabilitation (VR)

Central Research Question (CRQ)

Sub Question One (SQ1)

Sub Question Two (SQ2)

Sub Question Three (SQ3)

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

Overview

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study is to describe the lived experiences of individuals with intellectual disabilities (IDs) in an inclusive postsecondary education (PSE) program. Chapter One provides a background for the topics of special education and PSE programs in North Carolina. Included in the background section is an overview of the historical context, theoretical context, and social context for this study. The problem statement examines the scope of recent literature on this topic. The purpose of this study is stated followed by the significance of the current study. The research questions are introduced, and terms that are important to this study are defined. The chapter concludes with a chapter summary.

Background

The background section discusses the history of this problem and how it has evolved. The discussion begins with the education of people with disabilities before 1961 and moves to the present day. This section also includes how this problem affects the social aspects of our society and educational systems. This problem not only affects the population with disabilities but also the peers, employers, colleges, and universities who work with individuals with IDs. The theoretical context focuses on the problem and how the problem has been studied previously. The theoretical context also describes how previous research and theories can be used as a framework to extend the research to help further understand the problem at hand.

Historical Context

The historical overview covers the background of special education in the United States, as well as any inclusive PSE programs that may already be available to individuals with IDs.

Before 1961, the United States did not publicly educate any students with disabilities. In 1970,

only one in five students with disabilities were educated in the United States (Individuals with Disabilities Act, 2022). Before federal regulations were passed, the future for children with disabilities was very bleak. Many were institutionalized because no one, including their families, knew what to do to help them. In 1975, President Ford signed into law the Education for All Handicapped Children Act which is also referred to as EHA. This act guarantees that all children with disabilities throughout the nation are given a free and appropriate public education that offers support to families of children with disabilities. In 1990, the EHA was reauthorized and transformed into the Individuals With Disabilities Education Act, which is referred to as IDEA (Individuals With Disabilities Act, 2022). IDEA covers students from infancy into adulthood, which is age 21 for the purposes of the law. Over the years, IDEA has been reauthorized and new or revised regulations have been added. Although changes have been made, the act has kept the same purpose, which is to further advance support and education for children with disabilities. In 2015, the IDEA was reauthorized and amended into the Every Student Succeeds Act (IDEA, 2022).

After the age of 21 years, individuals with IDs are left with few federally funded options to continue their education. One program that is available and funded through federal monies is Vocational Rehabilitation (VR) services. In 1935, the Social Security Act established the federal-state VR program as a permanent program (Department of Public Health & Human Services of Montana, 2022). In the beginning, this act did not include individuals with IDs. After name changes and amendments, in 1965, an amendment to the VR Act was made to include individuals with disabilities and other medical conditions. This change overloaded the system and made it difficult for participants to receive the help they needed. In 1973, the VR Act was amended to include only individuals with significant disabilities (Wyoming Work Force, 2015).

Currently, this program sets out to help individuals with disabilities gain employment, keep employment, and gain independence. Certain qualifications must be met in order to determine eligibility, such as income limits and rehabilitation needs of the individuals (Department of Public Health & Human Services of Montana, 2022). Due to these qualifications, many individuals and families do not qualify for VR services, which leaves them with few options once completing high school.

Another option that is available to individuals with IDs are federally funded PSE programs. Out of 5,916 colleges and universities in the United States, only 332 offer programs for people with IDs (Johnson, 2024). There are now 27 PSE programs in North Carolina that cater to individuals with IDs (North Carolina Council on Developmental Disabilities, 2022). This research study is based on these programs. To maintain confidentiality, pseudonyms have been used for the setting and program information. The program that this research study will be using is located at P.C.C. and is called C.A. In this program, individuals with IDs gain employment skills or become more proficient in math and reading so they can move to other educational programs or employment. There is no age limit for the program, and it is free to all participants. The C.A. program is paving the way and moving in the right direction to make a difference in the lives and education of individuals with IDs.

Social Context

In 2017, over 40% of businesses could not find talent to meet their workforce needs, but there were 4,301 VR job-ready candidates with disabilities seeking employment (North Carolina Council for Developmental Disabilities, 2022). Since the Covid-19 pandemic, job openings have doubled and tripled, yet individuals with IDs have remained jobless. There seems to be a disconnect between programs that train individuals with disabilities and businesses that need

employees. Per the North Carolina Council for Developmental Disabilities (2022), one in three employers reported people with disabilities stay in jobs longer, are rated equally or more productive than coworkers, and achieve equal or better job performance ratings. These statistics show just how much this topic affects society at large. There is an entire group of people who are being overlooked who could help the businesses that are desperate for employees. The research describes the lived experiences of individuals with IDs who have participated in inclusive PSE programs and the experiences of neurotypical peers and faculty who attend and work in inclusive PSE programs.

The need for more research also stretches into the educational world. After high school, individuals with IDs may not know about the PSE programs that are available to them. Due to this, many of the spots available at postsecondary institutions are not filled. The Higher Education Act of 2008 (HEA) made access to programs easier, but the act did not force institutions to create programs or market those programs to this population with disabilities. As of March 2019, there were only 265 nondegree programs for individuals with IDs on universities and college campuses across the country (National Parent Center on Transition and Employment, 2022). Since 2019, the number has increased to 332 programs for people with disabilities (Johnson, 2024). Although progress has been made, much more remains to be done in PSE programs to combat the problems discussed in this study.

The social context issues that affect the employment market and educational world directly relate to the theoretical framework of the social model of disability (Oliver, 1986).

Society and social situations have been set up in a way that creates barriers for people with disabilities. These barriers make it difficult for individuals with disabilities to attend PSE programs, gain employment, and retain employment (Bellacicco & Pavone, 2020). Furthering

this research will not only benefit the population with disabilities but also employers, peers, colleges, and universities who seek to be more inclusive in all aspects (Brewer & Movahedazarhouligh, 2021). This research can also benefit colleges and universities in the creation of programs that provide job training to individuals with IDs in hopes of better employment outcomes for this population (Ryan et al., 2019). With more training and better employment outcomes, this population will be able to fill the many job vacancies that employers have, thus making society more inclusive.

Theoretical Context

Over the last 50 years, the education of individuals with disabilities has been a topic of discussion. From the literature that has been reviewed, it seems like there has been an abundance of progress for children and adolescents who have been diagnosed with disabilities, but collegeage individuals with IDs have not had as much access or support through the years. Lack of PSE programs, as well as access to these programs, have been blamed on the low employment rates among this population (Barnard-Brak et al., 2023). Society needs to make changes to combat and aid in solutions to solve these problems for people with disabilities. Most of the current literature covers PSE program enrollment (Gilson et al., 2020; Rumi et al., 2021) and employment statistics (Moore & Schelling, 2015; Park & Park, 2021). Other literature discusses the experiences and effects that individuals with disabilities have on their peers and faculty who work alongside them in the PSE programs (Grigal et al., 2021; Hemphill & Kulik, 2016; Ryan et al., 2019). The literature also includes the experiences and perspectives of individuals with IDs who are employed. This study aims to identify the experiences of individuals with IDs who are enrolled in an inclusive postsecondary job training program. As a result, this study should reveal how the experiences of individuals with IDs relate to inclusivity on college campuses.

The theoretical framework for this study is centered around Oliver's (1986) social model of disability and Vygotsky's (1978) social constructivism. The social model of disability explains that the way society and the environment are set up is a problem for people with disabilities, not the disability diagnosis itself (Oliver, 2013). The social model of disability was developed by disabled people in response to the medical model of disability. Shifting the focus from a medical standpoint to a personal standpoint helped society better understand how marginalized people with disabilities are. Social constructivism is a guiding theory because it explains how social interaction shapes how individuals learn. Vygotsky created social constructivism in response to other theorists who believed that learning could be separated from social interactions (Vygotsky, 1978). These two theories are important to the study because the social model explains why individuals with IDs are underrepresented in PSE programs and social constructivism explains how social interactions with neurotypical peers and faculty can shape the perspectives and experiences of the individuals with IDs. The results from this study expand Oliver's social model of disability and how peers and faculty on an inclusive college campus can either help or hinder inclusivity. Social constructivism is used to describe how the interactions with peers and faculty shape how individuals with IDs learn and grow in an inclusive PSE program.

Problem Statement

The problem is individuals with IDs are underrepresented in inclusive PSE programs. In his study, Brady (2021) stated, "There is a distinct need for a research agenda that drives research, practice, and policy for college students with intellectual and developmental disabilities" (p. 203). Career and technical education has always been an option for students with IDs in the middle and high school realms of education, but what about at the PSE level? "Every

Student Succeeds Act ... of 2015 emphasizes the importance of all students, including those with disabilities, becoming college and career ready through high expectations and access to a high-quality education" (Monahan et al., 2020, p.131-132). As the world changes and grows, it becomes more overwhelmingly apparent that this group of individuals has been left behind when it comes to PSE programs. The lack of PSE programs leaves the population with disabilities unemployed, underemployed, and undereducated.

"Since the enactment of the Higher Education Act in 2008, the enrollment in post-secondary programs for individuals with intellectual disabilities has increased by 500%" (Baker et al., 2018, p.13). Although enrollment has increased, the creation of these programs has not. Currently, 332 PSE programs across the United States serve students with IDs (Johnson, 2024, though there are 5,916 total degree-granting colleges located in the United States for neurotypical students (NCES, 2022). The statistics mentioned show the need for more research on career and technical training programs for individuals with disabilities, as well as the creation of these programs across the United States. To conduct an inclusive study of the previous research, it is important to include the perspectives and experiences of the peers and the faculty who interact with this population through inclusive educational settings.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study is to describe the lived experiences of individuals with IDs who are enrolled in the C.A. program on an inclusive college campus located at P.C.C. At this stage in the research, the lived experiences will be generally defined as but not limited to day-to-day activities, learning activities, field trips, or on-campus activities the individuals participated in while enrolled in the program on the inclusive college campus. The theories guiding this study are the social model of disability (Oliver, 1986) along

with social constructivism (Vygotsky, 1978). This study will take place at P.C.C. in a rural area of North Carolina. The program in which the students are enrolled is called C.A. Participants in this study will be college-aged students between the ages of 18 and 30 who have a documented developmental disability. The IDs could be related to but are not limited to autism, Williams syndrome, Down syndrome, or traumatic brain injury. The formal diagnosis for each individual with IDs was provided by an educational institution. For this study, the C.A. program at P.C.C. is where individuals learn job training, math, and reading skills. PSE programs are defined as programs located on college or university campuses that serve students with IDs through job and life skills training (P.C.C., 2022).

Significance of the Study

The participants in this study described their experiences while enrolled in an inclusive PSE program. They also described how they feel about the relationships they have with neurotypical peers and faculty on the inclusive college campus. This study is significant because the findings inform colleges, universities, and employers of ways to promote PSE programs and employment opportunities for individuals with disabilities. A better understanding of PSE program participation will exist. Furthermore, the findings can help in the creation of more postsecondary employment training programs for people with disabilities across the United States. This study also describes how the relationships formed on inclusive campuses among neurotypical peers and faculty and students with disabilities can either help or hinder the inclusivity efforts.

Theoretical Significance

The theories guiding this study are the social model of disability (Oliver, 1986) and social constructivism (Vygotsky, 1978). The social model of disability theory describes that society is

set up in a way that creates barriers for people with disabilities. How society and the environment are arranged, not the disability diagnosis itself, is a hindrance to individuals with disabilities (Goering, 2015). The social model of disability was developed by disabled people in response to the medical model of disability. Shifting the focus from a medical standpoint to a personal standpoint helps society better understand how marginalized people with disabilities are. Social constructivism focuses on an individual's learning through the social interactions of a group (Vygotsky, 1978). This study examined how the interactions of neurotypical peers and faculty can affect individuals with IDs while attending a PSE program. Vygotsky created social constructivism in response to other theorists who believed that learning could be separated from social interactions (Vygotsky, 1978). Examining the experiences of individuals with IDs who are enrolled in PSE programs could provide significant updates and expand upon the existing theories (Collins et al., 2018) by describing how PSE programs have changed and adapted to better accommodate individuals with IDs. In essence, the programs would change societal norms in PSE to serve this underrepresented population. Additionally, the results of the study can generate a better understanding of the experiences that contribute to easier access to PSE programs and more inclusion for individuals with IDs. The results can also provide significant information on how to better equip neurotypical peers and faculty working or attending an inclusive PSE program.

Empirical Significance

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study is to describe the lived experiences of individuals with IDs in an inclusive PSE program. During the research process, literature was found on PSE programs in the United States (Gilson et al., 2020; Kim & Kutscher, 2020; Lee et al., 2021; Rumi et al., 2021) and employment statistics of individuals with

disabilities (Moore & Schelling, 2015; Park & Park, 2021; Sannicandro et al., 2018; U.S. Department of Labor, 2020). Literature was also found on the effects that PSE has on the individuals, peers, and faculty who work in the inclusive programs (Carter et al., 2019; Nota et al., 2010; Ryan et al., 2019; Watts et al., 2023). Literature on employment perspectives from individuals with disabilities was also examined (Bonaccio et al., 2019; Gilson et al., 2022; Hemphill & Kulik, 2016; Wehman et al., 2018). Through the examination of the literature, gaps were present in the experiences between postsecondary job training programs and how that relates to inclusion on college campuses for people with disabilities. The themes and phenomenological descriptions from this study have empirical significance because they add new information to the literature and support the existing literature.

Practical Significance

Individuals with IDs have lower rates of postsecondary enrollment (Pound et al., 2023) as well as lower rates of employment compared to their neurotypical peers (U.S. Department of Labor, 2020). The results of this study can improve access and the creation of PSE programs with this population. This study can also improve unemployment rates among individuals with IDs. Additionally, strategies and interventions can be developed using the results from this study to encourage colleges, universities, and workplaces to become more inclusive for all populations. This study can also provide information on how to make changes on their campuses to create more inclusion in universities and colleges that present themselves as being inclusive.

Research Questions

Career and technical education have always been an option for students with IDs in the middle and high school realms of education but what about at the postsecondary level?

Becoming college- and career-ready through high expectations and access to a high-quality

education is what the revisions and amendments set out to do in the Every Student Succeeds Act to benefit individuals with IDs (Monahan et al., 2020). The following research questions seek to describe the experiences of individuals with IDs and how they relate to their inclusion on college campuses. This study also sought to describe the feelings individuals with IDs have when describing their relationships with peers and neurotypical faculty members.

Central Research Question

What are the lived experiences of individuals with intellectual disabilities enrolled in inclusive postsecondary career and technical training programs located on a college campus?

Sub-Question One

What are the experiences of individuals with intellectual disabilities and their participation in postsecondary programs?

Sub-Question Two

How do individuals with intellectual disabilities feel about their relationships with neuro typical peers on the inclusive college campus?

Sub-Question Three

How do individuals with intellectual disabilities feel about their relationships with faculty members on the inclusive college campus?

Definitions

- 1. Employment: For people with disabilities, employment means greater economic self-sufficiency, an opportunity to use their skills, and more active participation in community life (National Conference of State Legislatures, 2021).
- 2. *Inclusion:* Inclusion happens when every child is given the right to quality education. It means real learning opportunities for groups who have traditionally been excluded.

- Inclusion values the unique contributions students of all backgrounds bring to the classroom and allow diverse groups to grow side-by-side, to benefit all (Unicef, 2023).
- 3. Inclusive Postsecondary Education Program: Programs also offer varying degrees of participation in regular college classes with students without disabilities. The programs may be fully inclusive, meaning that academics, social events, and independent living support take place with students without disabilities. Other programs offer a less inclusive program, where students spend more time in classes and activities with other students with IDs (National Parent Center on Transition and Employment, 2022).
- 4. Intellectual Disabilities: A condition characterized by significant limitations in both intellectual functioning and adaptive behavior that originates before the age of 22 years (American Association on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities, 2022).
- Peers who are neuro typical: A student without an emotional, intellectual, or physical disabling condition that requires assistance to access the educational environment (O'Connor, 2019).

Summary

The problem is individuals with IDs are underrepresented in inclusive PSE programs. The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study is to describe the lived experiences of individuals with IDs in an inclusive PSE program. Chapter One, which serves as an introduction to the study, includes a summary of related literature, theories, and research questions. The results of this study describe the experiences of individuals with IDs enrolled in PSE programs and their experiences with inclusion. Exploring this phenomenon helps to fill in the gaps in the literature regarding these programs and inclusion for this population. Chapter Two will dive deeper into the related literature and the gaps that exist on this topic.

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

Overview

A systematic review of the literature has been conducted to explore the lack of career and technical training programs in PSE settings created for individuals with IDs, barriers that limit participation for individuals with IDs in inclusive PSE programs, statistics of employment rates for people with IDs, how the programs affect students with IDs, how these inclusive programs affect neurotypical peers and faculty, and how people with IDs feel about employment. The first section discusses the theory relevant to job training programs, employment, independence, and specialized learning described in Mike Oliver's (1986) social model of disability in addition to Lev Vygotsky's (1978) social constructivism and how that relates to this study and individuals with IDs. In the next section, a synthesis of recent literature is presented pertaining to the topics listed above. Lastly, the gaps in the literature are discussed, which include the experiences of individuals with IDs who are currently enrolled in inclusive postsecondary job training programs. Gaps were also found when discussing the experiences of individuals with disabilities and inclusion. Another important gap that was identified was the perspectives and experiences of peers and faculty who are enrolled or work in these programs. The gaps in the literature present a viable need for more research to be completed on the experiences of individuals with disabilities and their participation in inclusive postsecondary job training.

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical frameworks that guide this study are the social model of disability from Oliver which was constructed in 1986 and Vygotsky's (1978) learning theory called social constructivism. The social model of disability originated in the late 20th century due to the civil rights movement. In the 60s and 70s, many people with disabilities were excluded from society.

This theory was developed in reaction to the medical model of disability that emphasizes an individual's deficit by diagnostic labels and treats their impairments as deficits (Manago et al., 2017). The social model of disability theory explains that society is organized in a way that is disabling instead of an individual's impairments or medical diagnosis (Oliver, 2013). Another way that it has been described is that "while impairment may impose personal restrictions, disability is created by hostile cultural, social, and environmental barriers" (Oliver & Barnes, 2010, p. 548). This theory aims to break down the barriers in society to make it more inclusive for all people, not just those who are neurotypical. Through the construction of positive indemnities for disabled people the social model is instrumental in political and legal agendas for inclusion and accessibility (Oliver, 2013). Although many advances have been made due to the social model of disability theory, there are still many barriers in education that have had little to no change over the years. This theory makes a direct connection between individuals with disabilities and their ability to attend inclusive PSE programs.

From the origination of the social model theory in 1986, many other researchers have built upon and used the social model of disability in their research to further advocate for individuals with disabilities across the world. The social model of disability is a framework for understanding how the diagnosis of a disability affects individuals. Oliver's theory suggested that people's conditions are not what make them disabled. Instead, society's conditions, such as exclusion, ignorance, and lack of access, disable them (University of Minnesota Duluth, 2017). Manago et al. (2017) described how the social model of disability is intertwined with the medical model and has been used by parents of children with special needs to end stigmatism and to advocate for their children. These parents use this intertwined approach because they believe it is easier to adapt a person than is it to alter social structure (Landsman, 2005; Matthews, 2009).

Vygotsky's (1978) social constructivism describes how social interactions affect the way that individuals learn when in a group. Social constructivism suggests that all knowledge is developed because of social interaction and language use, meaning learning is a shared experience rather than an individual one (Lynch, 2016). Vygotsky believed that the lifelong process of development is dependent on social interaction and that social learning leads to cognitive development (Akpan et al., 2020). In theory, this means that all learning tasks can be performed by learners under adult guidance or peer collaboration. The goal of using social constructivism in this study is to rely as much as possible on the participants' view of the situations and experiences and how those relate to social interaction. These experiences are not simply imprinted on the participants but are formed through the interactions of others (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Social constructivism pairs well with the social model of disability because it focuses on the specific contexts in which people live and work to understand the historical and cultural settings of the participants. This theory will be used to describe how neurotypical peers and faculty affect the learning of individuals with IDs in the inclusive setting. This specific study looks at the social interactions from the point of view of participants with IDs and connects those with the social model of disability and social constructivism to describe how including or leaving out this population can affect their learning.

The policy of inclusion reflects the need to change society and social institutions (Shutaleva et al., 2023). This study, and the research question's goal, is to further the research on the social model of disability and social constructivism along with how it can affect individuals with disabilities and their participation in postsecondary job training programs. This study uses the social model of disability to inform readers about how society and the environment can hinder individuals with disabilities from participating in PSE programs. Although society may

not do this purposefully, often the way society is set up leads to the exclusion of differently-abled people. The social model of disability works to break down these barriers, giving people with disabilities more opportunities in society. Using the social model of disability and social constructivism helped with data analysis by providing a framework for the themes that may emerge. Due to the social model of disability theory being rooted in societal differences, using it during data analysis helped expand on the barriers that exist in society due to individuals' disabilities. The social model of disability focuses on how society can change to better accommodate individuals with disabilities, so it is important to connect the social model of disability to the findings as well. Including the social model of disability theory and social constructivism leads to the bettering of PSE programs that already exist and aids in the creation of new programs across the United States. Based on these findings, this research study aims to combine the social model of disability, social constructivism, and real-world experiences to create a lasting change in PSE programs for people with IDs.

Related Literature

The related literature offers a contextual background for this study, just as the theory of the social model of disability (Oliver, 1986) provides a theoretical framework for the study. A review of the literature uncovered many different perspectives and experiences of PSE programs for individuals with IDs. The following sections provide literature on PSE programs for people with IDs. The literature also covers employment outcomes in addition to statistics for the population of students with IDs. The related literature addresses the barriers that individuals with IDs face to participate in inclusive PSE programs. Literature was found on PSE program effects and perspectives from the individuals with IDs as well as their neurotypical peers and faculty. Lastly, the literature focuses on employment perspectives from individuals with IDs.

PSE Programs for Individuals With IDs

Students with IDs have not always been able to attend colleges in the United States. Until the 70s, individuals with IDs did not have the legal right to attend public primary or secondary schools in the United States (Grigal et al., 2012). The HEA of 2008 made access to PSE programs easier for individuals with IDs by offering more financial assistance and easier access to PSE programs for individuals with IDs (U.S. Department of Education, 2008). Although the act did not require that colleges provide programs for these specific students, many institutions created nondegree certificate opportunities for people with IDs. At the time of this study, 332 postsecondary education programs across the United States serve students with IDs (Johnson, 2024) and 5,916 total degree-granting colleges located in the United States for neurotypical students (NCES, 2022). Twenty-seven of those programs that cater to individuals with IDs are in North Carolina (North Carolina Council on Developmental Disabilities, 2022). The statistics presented above show that only 0.05% of all colleges and universities in the United States provide PSE for students with a variety of disabilities. Overall, these programs have a positive impact on employment and adult outcomes and give a sense of independence for the students with disabilities (Gilson et al., 2020). Many PSE programs for individuals with IDs focus on three main areas: academics, independent living, and employment (Rumi et al., 2021).

In the 2019-2020 school year, 72% of individuals with disabilities graduated from high school with a diploma, 10% received an alternative certificate, and 16% dropped out (National Center for Education Statistics, 2021). The study at hand focuses on the population of individuals with IDs who graduated with a certificate or dropped out. Nearly one in five undergraduate college students reported having an identified disability in the 2015-2016 school year (National Center for Education Statistics, 2018). That means one-fifth of college enrollment comes from

individuals with disabilities. It is also important to note that only 37% of students reported their disabilities to their colleges and only 15% of those students who disclosed their disabilities received accommodations from the school or program in which they were enrolled (National Center for Education Statistics at Institute of Education Sciences, 2022). A 2023 report on disability statistics, which used census data, showed that only 20% of 25–34-year-olds with a disability hold a bachelor's degree (Houtenville et al., 2023). With 10% of enrollments coming from college students with disabilities, their outcomes are far inferior compared to their neurotypical peers (National Council on Disability, 2003). Despite how common disabilities are among college students, society and higher educational institutions fail to provide truly inclusive spaces for all people to participate equally.

In a peer-reviewed study by Campanile et al. (2022), the researchers used an A-F letter scale to grade 50 top-funded undergraduate programs on accessibility, accommodations, and reputation for inclusion. Just six percent of these institutions received an A, whereas 60% received a D (Campanile et al., 2022). Due to the inconsistencies of inclusion in PSE programs, individuals with IDs tend to have lower levels of higher education attainment than those without disabilities. From 2003-2005, only 34% of people with IDs were enrolled in a public university, and 11% of people with IDs were enrolled in a community college 2 years after high school (North Carolina Department of Commerce, Labor, and Economic Analysis Division, 2009).

Newman (2005) found that students with IDs are 4.5 times less likely to attend four-year college programs compared to students without disabilities. The Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990 mandates that all postsecondary institutions "are required by law to provide any reasonable accommodation that maybe necessary for those people with an identified disability to have equal access to the educational opportunities and services available to peers who are neurotypical, if

requested" (PL 101-336; PL 105-17, p. 327). Grigal et al. (2011) found that 11% of students with IDs in the United States attended PSE programs compared to 58% of students with other types of disabilities.

The college and career readiness movement in the United States has put great emphasis on providing opportunities for all students to enter PSE programs that prepare them for a career (Rossetti et al., 2016). It has become increasingly apparent that all individuals can benefit from at least some PSE or training (Carnevale et al., 2011). Both federal and state policies, together with funding, have been put in place to support students with and without disabilities to participate in PSE (Zhang et al., 2018). The rationale for offering PSE to the population with IDs includes (a) giving the students a sense of esteem and belonging when they have an opportunity to attend college like their same-age peers, (b) increasing these students' employment outcomes, and (c) providing a positive impact on typical college students and faculty (Hart et al., 2010). Although positive outcomes have been shown, students with IDs are underserved in all higher education settings, partly because few programs exist and families often are not provided with adequate information and guidance (Griffin et al., 2010). PSE programs across the United States for individuals with IDs are widely different in their purpose and goal, the way they admit students, the courses they offer, and the approaches they take to including these students on college campuses (Zhang et al., 2018).

Programs that are inclusive and prepare students with intellectual and developmental disabilities for a career are even more difficult to find, as most students in these programs attend classes that are linked to their level of academic abilities due to the belief that these students may not pursue a career, unlike neurotypical college students (Papay & Bambara, 2011). Despite the globalization of PSE, which has taken place over the last 25 years or so, the exclusion of people

with IDs from this sector persists as demonstrated through barriers to access, low participation, and low completion rates, compared to those without disabilities (Special issue: Inclusive PSE and Persons With Disabilities, 2023). As of 2021, nearly 95% of students with IDs attended school with their peers without disabilities (NCES, 2021). As a result, students whose schooling has been entirely in inclusive settings now increasingly seek PSE in equally inclusive settings; attending college with their peers is the natural educational progression for them (Papay et al., 2018). With fewer than six percent of the more than 5,700 two- and four-year colleges offering programs for individuals with IDs (Carothers et al., 2021), it is apparent that there is a need for more research, revision, and creation of inclusive PSE programs.

Barriers to Participation in Inclusive PSE Programs for Individuals With IDs

Although the educational world has made many advancements toward including individuals with IDs, barriers still exist when it comes to access and participation in inclusive PSE programs. In the last 3 decades, inclusive disability legislation has led to an increasing number of students with disabilities entering higher education (Biggeri et al., 2020). However, barriers to the full participation of students with IDs remain. The following related literature discusses the barriers that exist for individuals with IDs and their participation in PSE programs. Although higher education remains essential in increasing employment and life chances, students with IDs face several challenges that are significantly different and greater than those of students without disabilities when entering higher education (Newman et al., 2011). The narratives of students with IDs illustrate that they must work considerably harder than their neurotypical peers to overcome a range of physical, attitudinal, social, and cultural barriers (Hopkins, 2011). Although policies exist to help accommodate students, the students may encounter attitudinal barriers in accessing them (Flaherty & Roussy, 2014). For example, people with IDs often

encounter significant social exclusion, negative attitudes, discrimination, and stigma, which are substantial barriers to youth entering and completing PSE (Duncanson et al., 2017).

Other barriers have been identified when exploring and discussing individuals with IDs attending inclusive PSE programs. First, the lack of adequate preparation in secondary schools and differences in academic achievement between students with and without disabilities are among the most important constraints to a successful transition to higher education (Chatzitheochari & Platt, 2019). Interpersonal-level barriers include difficulties in building a social network and interaction with teaching staff and peers. Faculty members play a crucial role in creating a supportive environment for students with IDs and affect their progress (Malinovskiy et al., 2023). Positive peer relationships and inclusiveness during general education play an important role in shaping the willingness and ability to attain higher education for people with IDs (Carter et al., 2013). Organizational-level barriers identified as infrastructural limitations of the physical space and accommodations also plague individuals with IDs when accessing PSE programs (Malinovskiy et al., 2023). Another area of challenge includes navigating the hidden curriculum, including meeting prerequisites for PSE and employment, using support systems and community transportation, and carrying out adulthood expectations (Berg et al., 2017). Inappropriate accommodations, along with the inability of student support services to assist persons with IDs, can considerably impede progress on the educational trajectory (Garrison-Wade, 2012). The next few paragraphs provide a more in-depth look at the barriers previously mentioned.

The lack of adequate preparation in secondary schools has been identified as a barrier to participation for individuals with IDs in higher education programs. Requirements in federal education policy guarantee the provision of services to assist students with IDs in preparing for

their transition from high school to the post-high school world (Cavendish et al., 2020). The extent to which and in what way secondary schools work to prepare students and develop their skills is likely of great importance for the students' adult life (Tideman et al., 2023). Policies have been developed that highlight an increased focus on ensuring all students, including students with IDs, are prepared to engage in college activities, career responsibilities, and adult life (Mishkind, 2014). Yet, not all students, and especially not students who receive special education services, are exiting school sufficiently college- and career-ready (Lombardi et al., 2022). Only about three percent of high school graduates with IDs complete a rigorous college preparatory curriculum (Nord et al., 2011). Students with IDs are often excluded from college preparatory coursework, even when compared to students without disabilities with similar academic aptitude (Shifrer et al., 2013). Consequently, students with IDs often exit high school underprepared for postsecondary life (Ressa, 2022). Transitioning to higher education is a challenging period for many students, punctuated by fundamental changes (Koyač, 2015).

The transition to college can prove especially challenging for students with IDs who are more likely to experience a lack of preparation for college in high school (e.g., appropriate social skills, coursework; Francis et al., 2018), compared to their peers without disabilities (Francis et al., 2020). Even with careful planning, college transition can be challenging for students with IDs because it involves leaving preschool-12th grade structures of entitlements to special education services and entering the postsecondary structure of service eligibility (Agran et al., 2020). The Preschool-12th grade and college structural differences can leave unprepared students vulnerable to academic, social, emotional, and personal stress (Lawson et al., 2016). Students with IDs must face a significant number of challenges and changes when transitioning to college, including building a new social network, dealing with heightened academic demands, developing

autonomous learning, or coping with unfamiliar administrative tasks (Perry et al., 2001). Given the fact that higher education has traditionally been an arena for academics who are considered strong and self-sufficient, students with IDs often must work beyond their capacity to prove themselves as competent learners in the face of ableist expectations (Olsen et al., 2020). Successful transition from compulsory education to lifelong learning opportunities requires strategies that support parents to encourage the aspirations of their children and ensure that students with IDs have access to a broad range of choices in education, training, and employment (Scanlon & Doyle, 2021).

Through their interactions with peers across the school day, students develop new skills, encounter new perspectives, access needed supports, find camaraderie, develop social capital, learn prevailing norms, and elevate their future aspirations (Biggs & Carter, 2017). Although there are many benefits, interpersonal-level relationship barriers exist between peers, faculty, and individuals with IDs who participate in inclusive PSE programs. Despite increased access, students with IDs in higher education face barriers and report greater dissatisfaction than peers without disabilities (Mullins & Preyde, 2013). Students' social adjustment to the university and feelings of social isolation contribute to their institutional commitment and perceived competency, which are important for college persistence (Tinto, 2012). Underrepresented groups on college campuses report feeling left out of social activities, as well as missing out on forming social relationships to support success in the classroom, including maintaining networks after degree completion (Jack, 2016). Students with IDs have also reported they have experienced faculty resistance, stereotypes, and discrimination (Wilson et al., 2000). Faculty perceptions of students with IDs were the most frequently cited barrier in the Ehlinger and Ropers (2020) study. Participants described negative experiences when they discussed accommodations with their

instructors, including feeling judged and feeling like their instructor believed they were not capable of success. These experiences have likely impacted student success with only 34% of U.S. students with IDs completing their bachelor's degree (Newman et al., 2011).

A barrier of great importance that has been identified at the organizational level is a hidden curriculum of PSE programs, which creates barriers to adaptive behaviors (Berg et al., 2017). The academic supports and services that institutions provide do not address the challenges with adaptive behavior and social participation skills needed for PSE students with IDs. Contributing to the challenge of PSE success for students with IDs is limited exposure to and opportunities for acquisition of the hidden curriculum, the often unspoken and unacknowledged content and skills that support academic and adult-performance (About Education, 2016). This hidden curriculum is often unexplored by students with disabilities yet is an important consideration under Part C of the IDEA (Individuals With Disabilities Education Improvement Act of 2004, Pub. L. 108-446) which includes "instruction, related services, community experiences, the development of employment, and other post-school adult living objectives, and when appropriate, acquisition of daily living skills, and functional vocational evaluation" (pp. 4-5). Navigating adult-based systems involves several areas of the PSE hidden curriculum. Students must learn about the new campus environment and its expectations. A combination of low-performance expectations, overreliance on adult support, a marked reduction in occupational therapy services (Mankey, 2012), and limited variety in classroom student population may have fostered dependency that persisted into PSE (Garrison-Wade, 2012), inadvertently leading to these students being underprepared for navigating the adult-based PSE and employment systems.

Employment Statistics for Individuals With IDs

Higher education is regarded as one of the most important means to promote work participation for people with IDs (Molden et al., 2009). Individuals with IDs are twice as likely to live in poverty than individuals without disabilities (National Council on Disability, 2017), which is mostly due to the lack of participation and completion of PSE programs (U.S. Department of Labor, 2020). The employment rate of people with IDs is 17.1% compared to the employment rate of 66.3% for people without disabilities. The unemployment rate was 7.3% for individuals with IDs and 3.5% for people without disabilities. These statistics show a large difference between employment for people with disabilities and those without with relatively no concern on how to change these numbers across the United States. Individuals with IDs are three to four times less likely to be employed than their neurotypical peers, and most of the employment that they participate in is in sheltered work or segregated settings (Park & Park, 2021). With only 0.05% of colleges and universities in the United States providing PSE programs for individuals with IDs, the employment and unemployment rates are not surprising. This next section will go into further detail on employment and unemployment for individuals with IDs.

Only five studies have examined the correlation between PSE and employment outcomes since 2004 (Moore & Schelling, 2015). Over the last 20 years, this topic has gained more interest, and more research has been completed. In a study conducted by Sannicandro et al. (2018), the researchers stated that PSE is associated with increased weekly earnings, decreased reliance on supplemental security income benefits, and increased employment. To combat the unemployment rates of people with IDs, some states have enacted policies to get this population of people into the workforce. Currently, the states with the highest rate of PSE participation for

individuals with IDs are Iowa, West Virginia, Minnesota, Massachusetts, and Pennsylvania (Grigal et al., 2014). Sannicandro et al. (2018) took a closer look into the correlation between PSE and employment rates of people with IDs across the 50 states. Their study found that individuals who participated in PSE had a much higher rate of employment than those who did not participate in PSE. The study conducted by Sannicandro et al. is important to the current research because it gives a foundation on which to build a strong argument for further studies on PSE and job outcomes. The studies listed above have shown a positive correlation between PSE participation and employment outcomes among individuals with IDs.

In 2022, the unemployment rates of individuals with IDs were still very high compared to the neurotypical population. Eleven-point-six percent of individuals with IDs who have no high school diploma are unemployed. Seven-point-three percent of individuals with IDs who have a high school diploma, but no college, are unemployed. Six-point-eight percent of individuals with IDs who have some college or an associate degree are unemployed. Four-point-seven percent of individuals with IDs who have a bachelor's degree or higher are unemployed (U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2023). Although the unemployment rate goes down with the more education an individual with an ID has, the rates are still high for this population. For neurotypical individuals with a four-year degree, the employment rate is 89.9%, whereas the employment rate for individuals with IDs who are college graduates of certificate programs is 50.6% (U.S. Department of Labor Statistics, 2016). In 2021, almost six million people with at least one reported disability were employed in the labor market (U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2023). In total, there are approximately 3.32 billion people in the labor market in the entire world (Clark, 2022). That means that 0.001% of the entire labor market across the world is made up of people

with IDs. These astonishing numbers show the importance of postsecondary job training programs and their ability to increase employment among people with IDs.

Job retention is another important factor that needs to be analyzed when discussing employment and unemployment among individuals with IDs. In 1986, one study found that 67% of people with IDs quit their jobs within the first 6 months (Kim et al., 2017). In 2007, a study reported that out of 60 individuals with IDs, 26 were employed in the initial study but only 13 were employed at the 9-month check-in (Hensel et al., 2007). Park & Park found a higher rate of employment among high school graduates and those with PSE experiences (2021). International statistics confirm that people with IDs with tertiary education have higher rates of employment than those with less education (Bellacicco & Pavone, 2020). There was a lower rate of employment among individuals with only middle or elementary school education (Park & Park, 2021). These studies have proven that education plays a large role in gaining and retaining employment among individuals with IDs. The studies have also shown that some form of participation in PSE contributes to greater employment rates among people with IDs.

Effects and Perspectives of Students With IDs in PSE Programs

The opportunity to participate in PSE programs can empower people to develop academic competencies and knowledge, improve their prospects in the job market, hone their social skills, and broaden their views of the world (Baum et al., 2010). Given greater access and research documenting the positive outcomes of PSE programs, it is likely that PSE programs are an increasingly desirable goal for many students with IDs when they are preparing to transition out of high school (Francis et al., 2020). Inclusive PSE programming has shown effectiveness, with 59% of students being engaged in paid employment 1 year after graduation (Grigal et al., 2021). The first three sections of this chapter have focused heavily on the statistics about PSE programs

and employment rates of people with IDs, as well as the barriers this population faces. This next section of the literature review explains how participating in PSE programs affects individuals with IDs, as well as discusses their perspectives while participating in these programs.

Important factors, such as employment and independent living, have been found to increase the quality of life for individuals with IDs (Nota et al., 2010). Rumi et al.'s (2021) study is the perfect example of the success that can happen in these PSE programs for this population. Rumi et al.'s study was linked to an increase in ability and independent living skills through weekly workshops, residential living spaces where students live on campus, and job shadowing. Motivation was another positive construct, which led to students staying on track, having more initiative, putting forth more effort, and having better relationships with peers on campus. Behavior was categorized positively, with improvements in employment and academic achievement, independent living, communication, socialization, and overall development (Rumi et al., 2021). Another study conducted by Lee et al. (2021) looked at four specific areas to measure the growth of students in adaptive behavior, self-determination, executive functioning, and social skills to bridge the gaps in other studies that have discussed the benefits of PSE programs. The research from Lee et al. detected growth in adaptive behavior, executive functioning, and social skills throughout participation in the program. Ryan et al. (2019) studied the effects that a particular PSE program had on students with IDs and their ability to obtain employment and living independence. Remarkable progress for the individuals was made, with 96% of students having at least one paid employment position after graduation and 4% of students moving on to another PSE program.

Regardless of learning differences, students with learning disabilities have postschool goals like the goals of students without disabilities: to attend college, obtain competitive

employment, and live independently (Cortiella & Horowitz, 2014). An important large-scale longitudinal study that discusses students' growth in college was recorded by Kim and Kutscher in 2020. An element that was noted within this study is that although students enter college with a variety of disabilities, backgrounds, and characteristics, their college experiences can influence their growth in academics and confidence (Kim & Kutscher, 2020). Students who show higher levels of engagement tend to see a greater benefit from their college. People with IDs value the opportunity to learn (Rillotta et al., 2020), have increased self-esteem and opportunities (Blumberg et al., 2008), feel more confident and independent (Wilson et al., 2012), widen their social networks (Plotner & May, 2019), and have better employment opportunities (Butler et al., 2016) when participating or completing PSE programs.

Some university students with IDs argue that going to the university should be strongly encouraged for people with IDs, as it is a way to improve their quality of life and expand their occupational prospects (Moriña, 2017). Students with IDs value higher education as a positive experience because it provides them with a normalized context that they wish to continue (Weldon & Riddell, 2007). The university experience is seen as an opportunity that strengthens them personally in the face of difficulties derived from their disability (Moriña, 2017). These experiences at the university level represent opportunities for empowerment and social and occupational inclusion (Papay & Griffin, 2013). An opportunity to participate in higher education is a powerful tool for these students to reinvent themselves and revalidate an identity that may have been impaired in other educational stages (Prowse, 2009). Through these experiences, it can be stated that many university students with disabilities are resilient people, as they have had to face adverse situations and overcome barriers (Zakour & Gillespie, 2013).

These experiences can increase their opportunities to get and keep a job to obtain higher revenues and achieve an independent life (Moriña, 2017).

PSE programs afford opportunities for students to develop the skills needed to gain employment, build their social networks, improve communication skills, increase their sense of independence and self-determination, and participate meaningfully in the community (Francis et al., 2018). Young people with an ID often have limited social circles for various reasons including the lack of opportunity to interact with others, protective family members, negative self-perceptions, and the perceptions of others (Wilson et al., 2016). McCarty et al. (2019) found that most young adults with IDs began PSE programs with a social circle that was limited to mainly family members. However, as the students progressed in the program, their networks grew sometimes to include, and more often, replace previous connections with new connections established in and through the program (Spencer et al., 2021). The ability to socialize is essential to students in any PSE program, and the program provides them with a sense of belonging (Kern et al., 2018), acceptance, and companionship (Shanay et al., 2013). Supporting student participation and interaction within the courses is a fundamental aspect of inclusion in college (Griffin et al., 2016). Reinforcing their participation supports students in a course, and student participation allows the students to interact with their peers and foster social relationships outside of the course.

Before research and the world became more focused on the topic of postsecondary training for students with IDs, poor employment and independent outcomes were reported for this population. It has been argued that the philosophy of inclusive PSE is based on the failure of segregated education to deliver positive outcomes for people with IDs (O'Connor et al., 2012). Inclusive education aims to promote equality among children, youth, and adults, according to the

right to belong (Falvey & Givner, 2005). Students with IDs who attended PSE programs experienced increases in their levels of self-determination and self-esteem (Ju et al., 2017) and more confidence (Stefánsdóttir & Björnsdóttir, 2016). They also made more friends, especially with peers without disabilities (Cranston-Gingras et al., 2015). As such, it is not enough that students with IDs have access to education, they also must have appropriate support to ensure their inclusion (Gibson, 2015). Inclusive PSE delivers positive social, personal, and academic outcomes (Rillotta et al., 2014). PSE programs that are inclusive aim to overcome marginalization and create educational opportunities that are the norm for individuals with IDs (Uditsky & Hughson, 2012).

Effects and Perspectives of Neurotypical Peers in Inclusive PSE Programs

Literature that examines the impact of peers on students' postsecondary success dates back several decades (Newcomb, 1962; Panos & Astin, 1968; Sanford, 1956). Many alternative approaches have been used to ensure success for individuals with IDs in PSE programs. Peer mentors who are often used as peer-mediated support systems in PSE programs are among the more widely used of these alternative approaches (Guist & Valle-Riestra, 2017). This brings the research to another important perspective that comes from the peers who attend inclusive PSE programs. It is important to acknowledge their experiences and feelings when researching this topic. The diverse group of students represented in the Carter et al. (2019) study shows that no matter the field of study, participating in an inclusive program has the potential to influence professional work and pathways after graduation for neurotypical peer mentors. Kowalsky and Fresko (2002) found that tutors who were preservice teachers perceived working with individuals with IDs as meaningful for their professional development. Chickering and Reisser (1993) noted "a student's most important teacher is often another student" (p. 392). Prohn et al. (2019) found

that peer supports on campus believe that the universities have made some improvements "but think they've made improvements with like the staff, like the chancellor, the people over the departments for work, the professors, I feel like we've made more improvements with those individuals than, like, with the students" (p. 116).

In 2021, a study focused on peers' attitudes toward inclusion and found students generally had neutral attitudes toward peers with IDs (Dell'Anna et al., 2021). Attitudes were more positive toward students with physical disabilities than IDs. Students with knowledge about disabilities showed better attitudes toward inclusion. Attending an inclusive university could have a positive impact on peers (Georgiadi et al., 2012), but having a separate setting for individuals with IDs could negatively influence neurotypical peers (Blackman, 2016). Dare et al.'s (2017) study found that peers relate inclusion and exclusion both to individual factors, such as achievement and behavior, and contextual factors, such as support and friendship. neurotypical peers think that actions at school and class level could favor a sense of belonging and promote reciprocal friendships with peers with IDs (Shogren et al., 2015). Peer-mediated interventions have been used to increase communication skills, social skills, academic skills, and employment skills for different populations of students with IDs (Kaya et al., 2015). In a study conducted by Peregrina-Kretz et al. (2018), it was found that peers serve as connectors, coaches, co-constructors, and copycats in inclusive PSE programs. Another important perspective from the peer support stated, "I am more myself with the post-secondary students because I don't have to pretend to be someone I'm not. They're not going to judge who I am" (Prohn et al., 2019, p. 117).

Maximizing the interaction between pupils with and without special needs is generally considered an important aspect of inclusion (Koster et al., 2009). For individuals with IDs, peer

mentoring can address individualized goals and learning needs (Schwartz & Kramer, 2018) as well as promote empowerment and self-determination by providing an opportunity for connection with positive role models (Bellamy et al., 2017). Peer mentoring programs provide an opportunity for individuals with and without IDs to learn, socialize, and work together in supportive and inclusive environments (Athamanah et al., 2020). Peer mentoring involves either formal or informal supportive relationships between two individuals with the aim of improving social interactions in academic and community environments (Griffin et al., 2016). Learning, working, and socializing with young adults with IDs on an integrated campus have resulted in many positive effects for college students without disabilities (Athamanah et al., 2020). These positive benefits include increased disability awareness, improved attitudes toward and comfort level of interacting with individuals with IDs (Harrison et al., 2019), self-determination and advocacy skills (Griffin et al., 2016), and enhanced empathy, interpersonal skills, and selfawareness (Gibbons et al., 2015). Positive interactions between young adults with and without disabilities also model inclusive behaviors for others in the community, potentially reducing societal stigma and discrimination against disabled populations (Izzo & Shuman, 2013).

Neurotypical peers have expressed concerns about inclusive PSE programs. Katz et al. (2012) found that neurotypical peers refer to the possibility that the behavior and difficulties of peers with IDs could affect their learning and achievement. Neurotypical peers also have expressed that they would feel awkward going outside of school with a classmate with IDs due to their lack of independence (Brown et al., 2011). Stylianidou and Mavrou (2021) discovered that neurotypical peers may view individuals with disabilities as "we" versus "they," meaning the people with disabilities are unable to do the things that their neurotypical peers can do. The frequent use of the word "cannot" indicates that peers think being disabled also means a person

is incompetent. "Using this language illustrates that disabled students are 'visible' only through a specific segregating, marginalized lens, that of the 'special unit kids' and not in the context of daily life at school" (Stylianidou and Mavrou, 2021, p.13). Another important perspective comes from the peer supports of a PSE program where they worried that their practices as peer supports sometimes seemed deceptive and that their social assistance could realistically impede students' social development (Prohn et al., 2019).

Effects and Perspectives of Faculty Employed by Inclusive PSE Programs

Since the enactment of the HEA in 2008, many programs and studies have been conducted on people with IDs and their success (U.S. Department of Education, 2008). Although this is a crucial focus, it means that the experiences and feelings of the faculty, who are also in the inclusive environment, can be overlooked. There have been studies that explore the perceptions of librarians (Dow et al., 2021), occupational therapists (Berg et al., 2017), and stakeholders (Brewer & Movahedazarhouligh, 2021) on their experiences with working with individuals with IDs in PSE programs. These studies do not focus solely on the faculty who work full-time with this population in the PSE programs. This section will cover related literature about the experiences of faculty and staff who work within these programs.

In addition to peers, faculty members are important in creating inclusive spaces and increasing academic and social opportunities on campus. Prior research demonstrates that the values, philosophies, and attitudes of faculty members impact the overall climate of the university (Rao, 2004) with faculty members' perceptions either facilitating or deterring overall success (de A Moreira et al., 2000). Furthermore, simply having a seat in a college classroom is not equivalent to inclusion (Uditsky & Hughson, 2012), rather, it is manifested through attitudes of connection, belonging, acceptance, and value throughout the community, which is a social

justice perspective, offering dignity and equality in the higher education community to all members (Hall, 2010). When appropriate, individuals with IDs should be given the opportunity to be included in all aspects of the college experience. Although they may not be enrolled in degree-seeking courses, individuals with IDs can be partnered with their neurotypical peers in those courses for internships or practicums under trained inclusive faculty members.

Postsecondary faculty understand the importance of inclusive education for the successful socialization of people with special educational needs, especially those with disabilities. Another study showed that staff members in PSE programs supported inclusive education, not only as a program but as a mindset, which shows the faculty were committed to breaking down the barriers, thus allowing all students with disabilities access to higher education (Brewer & Movahedazarhouligh, 2021).

In addition to peers, faculty members are integral stakeholders in creating inclusive spaces and increasing social and academic opportunities on campus (Gilson et al., 2020). Peers shape the social experiences, but instructors determine the culture of the learning environment (Cress, 2008). Prior research has demonstrated the impact of the values, philosophies, and attitudes of faculty members on the overall climate of the university (Rao, 2004), with faculty members' perceptions either facilitating or deterring overall student success (de A Moreira et al., 2000). One of the greatest challenges in inclusive education, apart from providing faculty with skills, knowledge, and understanding, is to ensure the development of positive attitudes toward students with IDs and their inclusion in regular classrooms (Forlin, 2010). Prior research demonstrates clear relationships between faculty attitudes and prior training and experience (De Boer et al., 2011). Faculty with more years of experience have been shown to be in favor of greater accessibility and university resources for students with IDs (Valle-Flórez et al., 2021).

The attitudes of faculty members are a key element for achieving real inclusivity in the teaching-learning process (Alhaznawi & Alanazi, 2021). Characteristics of inclusive faculty include the willingness to provide necessary tools to facilitate the learning of their students, the use of diverse methodologies, and a variety of channels to transmit the contents of the subject (Carballo et al., 2021).

Watts et al. (2023) focused a study primarily on six professors in an inclusive PSE program. The professors had a very positive outlook on the program and the students. Using a collaborative technique with the inclusive programming staff, the professors saw even more growth from the students. Professors even noted that the program had a positive influence on their professional development as instructors. Although there are many positive perspectives and outcomes from faculty, there are still many barriers related to faculty in an inclusive PSE program. Many faculty are tied to a tenure system where research and scholarship are rewarded more than teaching skills (Deshler et al., 1996). Lack of training opportunities, academic accommodations, postsecondary disability laws, and the over needs of students with IDs are also barriers for faculty members (Lombardi et al., 2013). Silver et al. (1998) noted barriers, such as possible resistance to instructional methods imposed on faculty and the tendency for some faculty to serve as gatekeepers to screen out those whom they feel do not belong in higher education. Limited staff resources to provide training to faculty and staff on classroom accessibility issues, cost concerns about purchasing needed technology, and more pressing institutional priorities were also noted as barriers among faculty members (Raue & Lewis, 2011).

Although inclusive university communities have been spreading throughout the country, not all university community members have been open to inclusion (Joseph et al., 2019). Faculty have agreed that students with IDs should have access and be included in campus activities with

neurotypical peers. One hundred fifty-two faculty members were interviewed, and 45% of faculty believed that typically developing students in the course would feel uncomfortable taking the course and having students with IDs enrolled or would disturb routine educational activities (Gibbons et al., 2015). In another study, the researchers found that instructors were stressed about including students in the curriculum, adapting content, upholding classroom integrity, fostering social interactions between typical students and students with disabilities, and lacking training (Engelbrecht et al., 2003). If faculty members do not have the prior knowledge and skills needed to develop effective lessons for all learners, then determining how to meet the students' needs can become burdensome (Joseph et al., 2019).

The low competence and commitment of faculty members have often been attributed to a lack of training in inclusive education, which has disempowered them from taking further action (Moriña, 2017). Faculty members have been seen as a source of stigma, whether due to a lack of understanding or mistrust of a student's need for accommodations (Blacklock et al., 2003). It is often the case that they do not feel competent to teach students with IDs in their classroom, or they are not committed enough to support students and implement reasonable accommodations in practice (Lombardi et al., 2015). Faculty often express that they are criticized for not adjusting the content, the teaching strategies, and the classroom environment (Morgan & Houghton, 2011). Coriale et al. (2012) reported that students with IDs identified that the attitudes of faculty members toward them are the most significant barrier in their education and careers. Some researchers have mentioned that university faculty members may endorse positive attitudes toward inclusive instruction, but they may choose not to implement it due to specific reasons, such as personal perceptions toward disability, limited disability legal knowledge, limited resources, and availability of disability education (Lombardi et al., 2015). However, considering

that postsecondary faculty members are the main mechanism for implementing inclusive instruction, their attitudes toward and actions associated with inclusive education will ultimately influence learning environments for students with and without disabilities (Hsu et al., 2020).

Employment Effects and Perspectives of Individuals With IDs

The preferred outcome in the United States for individuals with intellectual and developmental disabilities, which has been well established in research and policy, is competitive integrated employment (Wehman et al., 2018). It is important to note that a positive correlation has been identified between competitive employment and quality of life, autonomy, and well-being among people with IDs (Jahoda et al., 2008). Gilson et al. (2022) explained that work is a means for social connection, self-determination, and power in addition to survival for people with IDs. Social connection through inclusive work environments helps to make individuals feel like they belong somewhere, builds relationships with coworkers, establishes relationships within the community, and gives the individual with IDs supports within the workplace. Growth in self-determination through inclusive employment means the individuals with IDs are motivated to work, retain employment, and learn new skills. Inclusive work environments also lead to more independence and daily living skills for individuals with IDs.

Meaningful employment may provide economic opportunity (Taylor et al., 2021), better quality of life (Iwanaga et al., 2021), and perhaps even better health outcomes (Robertson et al., 2019). These benefits of employment are not limited to individuals with intellectual and developmental disabilities; research examining the global population (with and without disabilities) has found substantial links between employment and happiness, quality-of-life, and other nonmonetary benefits (De Neve & Ward, 2017). For individuals with IDs who are employed, an association with improved health and income has been noted (Reichard et al.,

2019). Employment for the population with IDs also provides purchasing power, social status, social interaction, linkage to community activity, and the opportunity to build a greater sense of self-worth because the person is making a societal contribution (Hole et al., 2015). There is an increasing focus on inclusive employment opportunities that have been shown to improve health, emotional well-being, and work productivity (Readhead & Owen, 2020). Integrated and competitive employment can promote higher independence, along with financial benefits, agency, and enhanced self-worth (Almalky, 2020).

Another important perspective on employment and unemployment among individuals with IDs is whether they do or do not want to work and what types of jobs they would like to have (Hennessey & Goreczny, 2022). Despite the benefits that people with IDs gain from employment, only about 12% of individuals with developmental or IDs work in an integrated community setting (Bush & Tassé, 2017). Fifty-seven-point-one percent of individuals with IDs who graduate high school are unemployed or work in a sheltered setting rather than an inclusive setting within the community (Hennessey & Goreczny, 2022). Thirty-three percent of nonworking individuals with IDs who have received job coaching and experience express that they would like to work (Beyer et al., 2016). The most common answer for not wanting employment is the fact that individuals with IDs who are not employed enjoy the daytime activity that they already do (Hennessey & Goreczny, 2022). It was also found that the most common reason for wanting to work was money. All these factors and statistics come together to show that education and the motivation to work play a large role in the employment and retention of individuals with IDs.

Although progress has been made toward the objective of increased employment of people with IDs, the 17.2% employment rate stands in large contrast to the 65% rate of their

neurotypical peers (U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2018). Many academic literature sources and publications show that employer attitudes have been significant impediments to increasing positive employment outcomes for people with IDs (Bendick & Nunes, 2012). Although people with IDs make up a large percentage of the labor pool, managers and human resources personnel find it hard to attract qualified applicants with disabilities (Domzal et al., 2008). Many times, there are barriers in the application process that make it hard for people with IDs to apply. When unemployed individuals with IDs have low self-expectations about their ability to find a job, they may give up altogether on the idea of employment (Skills and Employability Department, 2007). One perspective from a participant in a study who wanted to gain employment expressed that they wanted "to prove to people that they are wrong about me. I face bullying and some say that because I have special needs, I need to stay home rather than work. I want to prove them wrong" (Al-Hendawi et al., 2022, p. 8).

Winsor et al. (2017) argued that individuals with IDs continue to face significant hurdles in acquiring employment, as manifested by the high unemployment rates compared with people without disabilities or with a different type of disability. When these individuals acquire employment opportunities, they are segregated into entry-level positions, especially in the service sector, that are commonly characterized by poor wages and few hours (Mank et al., 2000). When people with IDs do work, they are more likely to earn less and work fewer hours (Almalky, 2020). The National Core Indicators survey of individuals with IDs found that 19% of people with IDs were in paid jobs in the community (Hiersteiner et al., 2018). They worked, on average, 15.6 hours a week and received a wage of \$7.19 per hour (Almalky, 2020). Individuals with IDs have been employed at a rate far lower than their peers without disabilities in the 5 years after completing high school (Blackorby & Wagner, 1996). In the context of access to

decent work, people with IDs usually face disadvantages related to their lower levels of education and lack of training, as well as attitudinal and physical barriers to employers and workplaces (Abidi & Sharma, 2014). In an election campaign in the United Kingdom, a party candidate was heckled for suggesting that people with IDs do not understand money and should be able to earn less than the national minimum wage (Busby, 2019). The candidate also suggested that the focus of work for individuals with IDs should be happiness and not monetary gain.

Disability is associated not only with higher rates of unemployment and low work intensity but also with greater risk of poverty, severe material deprivation, and social exclusion (Pinilla-Roncancio & Alkire, 2017). The risk of poverty and social exclusion are concepts directly and interactively related to disability (She & Livermore, 2009), but disablement and impoverishment are produced through the continuous and widespread failure of people to achieve social participation, access to resources, and appropriate support (Yeo, 2001). Social stigma; stereotypes; negative attitudes; inflexible employers; the lack of proper education, training, substantial postsecondary transition programs, and appropriate job opportunities; and views on the intellectual capacity of individuals with IDs can act as employment barriers leading to the unemployment of individuals with IDs (Darcy et al., 2016). Historically, many people with IDs were employed in production-line sheltered employment work that is often criticized for its segregation of employees with IDs from other members of society and for remuneration rates that are well below the minimum wage (Parmenter, 2011). When people with IDs do pursue employment, many still find a shortage of appropriate employment opportunities through which they can pursue competitive paid work (Butcher & Wilton, 2008). Individuals with IDs also face a lack of personal support and limited transportation options, and they are anxious and

uninformed about welfare benefit regulations (Heslop et al., 2002). Poor levels of independence (Carter et al., 2012), few experiences with jobs (Baer et al., 2003), and poor social skills (Carter et al., 2012) make it difficult for individuals with IDs to become employed.

Summary

Unemployment for adults with IDs has been a problem for many years. This problem, in large part, is due to insufficient PSE programs targeted at teaching career and technical education to increase the likelihood of employment. Research has been gathered on the theory of the social model of disability (Oliver, 1986) and its relationship to the research topic. Related literature associated with the topic has also been examined to convey the importance of this research topic. The literature discussed the PSE programs that already exist and the employment statistics of the population of individuals with IDs. Other research examined the perspectives of the individuals with IDs and the perspectives and experiences of their neurotypical peers enrolled in inclusive PSE programs. The perspectives and experiences of the faculty within the PSE programs were also discussed. To round out the related literature, the employment perspectives, and experiences of the individuals with IDs were discussed. There are gaps in the literature that show a need for more research on the experiences of individuals with IDs enrolled in inclusive PSE programs. It is important for research to address the critical need for more inclusive PSE programs to further the advancement of people with IDs. The theoretical framework and the related literature have demonstrated that further research on this specific topic is needed to advance research on the social model of disability and the inclusion of people with IDs on college campuses.

CHAPTER THREE: METHODS

Overview

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study is to describe the lived experiences of individuals with IDs in an inclusive PSE program. This study took place at a local community college in the Transitional and Career Studies department. The program in which the students were enrolled is called C.A. (a pseudonym). Chapter Three of the dissertation presents the research design and explains why this type of research was chosen. The procedures for the research study are followed by a restatement of the research questions and sub-questions.

Research positionality, interpretative framework, philosophical assumptions, and the researcher's role have been stated. The procedure section includes the permissions, recruitment plan, and data collection plan. The data analysis for the study has been explained. The trustworthiness section contains information on credibility, transferability, dependability, confirmability, and ethical considerations. Chapter Three ends with a summary of the contents of the chapter.

Research Design

"When we study something phenomenologically, we are not trying to get inside other people's minds. Rather, we are trying to contemplate the various ways things manifest and appear in and through our being in the world" (Vagle, 2018, p. 23). The design that was chosen for this qualitative dissertation is a phenomenological study. This type of approach was chosen because it seeks to understand and describe the universal essence of a phenomenon among a group of participants (Creswell & Poth, 2018). This relates to the dissertation topic because it allows the researcher to have a group of participants who have all experienced the same phenomenon, which, in this case, is participation in an inclusive postsecondary job training program for individuals with disabilities. It also allows the researcher to gather data on the

phenomenon and then use those data to discover themes among the different individuals who participated. This design was chosen over a case study approach because it allows for more participants and a more in-depth view of the problem that is being addressed. This research design also allows the study of the everyday experiences of the participants while the researcher's preconceived notions are suspended about the phenomenon.

After deciding on the phenomenological research design, the type of phenomenological research design was chosen. The two types of phenomenological research include hermeneutic and transcendental. The definition of hermeneutic phenomenology is it is an approach that describes and interprets the fundamental structures of the lived experience and recognizes the pedagogical value of the experience (Fuster, 2019). The definition of transcendental phenomenology is it is a design that seeks to understand human experience, in addition to being grounded in the concept and conditioned upon setting aside any preconceived notions that one may have about a phenomenon thus allowing the true meaning of the phenomena to emerge naturally (Staiti, 2014). Researching these two types of phenomenological research helped the researcher decide to use the transcendental phenomenological design. The transcendental study design helped to describe the lived experiences of the participants and to develop themes that helped to answer the research and sub-questions. This type of study also helped the researcher understand how these experiences are grounded in the social model of disability and social constructivism. Using transcendental phenomenological research design allowed for the research on the social model of disability to be furthered to help this population with access to PSE programs. In the end, when choosing a qualitative research method, a transcendental phenomenological study was the right choice for this dissertation.

Research Questions

Revisions and amendments to the Every Student Succeeds Act sets out to help individuals with ID in becoming college- and career-ready through high expectations and access to high-quality education (Monahan et al., 2020). The following research questions were used to describe the experiences of individuals with IDs and explain how they relate to their inclusion on college campuses. This study also sought to describe the feelings individuals with IDs have when they describe their relationships with neurotypical peers and faculty members.'

Central Research Question

What are the lived experiences of individuals with IDs enrolled in inclusive postsecondary career and technical training programs located on a college campus?

Sub-Question One

What are the experiences of individuals with IDs and their participation in postsecondary programs?

Sub-Question Two

How do individuals with IDs feel about their relationships with non-disabled peers on the inclusive college campus?

Sub-Question Three

How do individuals with disabilities feel about their relationships with faculty members on the inclusive college campus?

Setting and Participants

The next section of the dissertation covers the setting and participants. The description of the setting allows the reader to paint a mental picture of where the study took place. The participants section describes the types of individuals the researcher used as participants.

Purposeful sampling was used to select participants. The study focused on the lived experiences of 10 individuals who have been diagnosed with an ID and are enrolled in the C.A. program at P.C.C.

Setting

While this study was being conducted, there were 27 PSE programs in North Carolina alone, with the oldest program beginning in 2008, that cater to individuals with developmental disabilities. (North Carolina Council on Developmental Disabilities, 2022). In a small rural area in Eastern North Carolina, there is a community college making a difference in the lives of individuals with disabilities. At this college, there is a PSE program that teaches individuals with disabilities job training skills and remedial math and reading. The program is called C.A. (a pseudonym to provide the participants anonymity). This program was part of the Transitional Studies department within the college. C.A. had three instructors and was led by the director of the Transitional Studies department. The Transitional Studies department was included in the Continuing Education and Workforce Development department and was led by deans at P.C.C. (a pseudonym for the school). Many individuals with IDs received a future-ready core occupational course of study diploma instead of a standard course of study diploma. Due to receiving this type of diploma, the participants were enrolled in the C.A. program at P.C.C., allowing students with IDs to continue their educational journey in a higher education setting. When students complete this program, they can either gain employment or move on to the high school equivalency program at the college. The C.A. program is taught by retired public school teachers with advanced degrees and faculty members from the community college. Students spend their time learning math and reading skills and receiving hands-on job training. Being located on a college campus allows the students an opportunity to see first-hand the careers they

could obtain through their studies.

Participants

Participants in this study were college-aged students between the ages of 18 and 50 years who have a documented ID and were enrolled in the C.A. program at P.C.C. The IDs that these participants were diagnosed with included autism, Williams syndrome, Down syndrome, or traumatic brain injury. The individuals' formal diagnoses came from an educational institution. Participants were actively enrolled in the C.A. program at the community college. There were no specific requirements as far as ethnicity or gender. The study was inclusive and as diverse as possible with the enrolled students at the college. Purposeful sampling was used to select participants. This allowed the researcher to use their expertise to choose specific participants who could help meet the goals of the study (Creswell & Poth, 2018). With participant, parental, or guardian permission, the study followed 10 individuals with IDs on their journey through the C.A. program.

Researcher Positionality

All research is admittedly analyzed through an unintentionally biased lens because there is absolutely no way for a human researcher to be 100% unbiased when looking at the findings of the data they have collected. Due to this, a researcher's positionality must be discussed. As the researcher, I acknowledge my standpoint as a neurotypical educated woman who has worked in the special education field for over 6 years. I also acknowledge that at one point in time, I was an instructor in the C.A. program, but I do not have any connection to this program or college at this time other than the connections I have made through this research study. I also acknowledge that my educational background may prove to provide unintentional bias based on the knowledge I have gained throughout the years. I also acknowledge that my positionality may have influenced

this project to some extent.

Interpretive Framework

Social constructivism's interpretative framework seeks to understand the world in which individuals live and work (Creswell & Poth, 2018). This framework is concerned with the nature and construction of knowledge through social interactions (Pritchard & Woollard, 2010). Another way of thinking about social constructivism is that people's ideas coincide with their experiences, which helps researchers build their socio-cultural awareness about the world (Schaffer, 2006). This framework was chosen because it goes hand-in-hand with the research questions that are being studied. Social constructivism allows the researcher to gain knowledge about the phenomenon, as well as the participants who have experienced it. This framework gives a window into the real-life experiences of the participants, allowing the researcher to gather data and make connections, which leads to the research questions being answered. Social constructivism also allows for a wide range of views and ideas instead of a narrow view of the topics being researched; the wider range benefits the researcher because the participants all have different disabilities and experiences. This framework allows the researcher to see in real time the results related to participants enrolled in the program. Social constructivism also allows the researcher to recognize how their background shapes their interpretations and why it is important to position themselves in a way that recognizes their own personal, cultural, and historical experiences and how those things relate to the study (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Philosophical Assumptions

There are four types of philosophical assumptions: ontological, epistemological, axiological, and methodology (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Each one of these assumptions seeks to answer a different question of the observed phenomenon through different perspectives.

Ontological assumptions seek to explain the nature of reality. Epistemological assumptions seek to determine what counts as knowledge and how knowledge claims are justified. They also seek to explain the relationship between the researcher and what is being researched. Axiological assumptions want to explain the role of values play in the research. This assumption allowed the researcher to acknowledge that research is value-laden and that biases are present. Methodology explains the process used for the research. The three types of philosophical assumptions discussed in the next section of this research study are ontological, epistemological, and axiological.

Ontological Assumption

Creswell and Poth (2018) described ontological as a philosophical assumption about the nature of reality. It asks the question, when is something real? "In qualitative research, something is real when it is constructed in the minds of the actors involved. This means that the reality does not exist apart from the minds of the actors" (Creswell and Poth, 2018, p. 325). This philosophy makes a lot of sense. My ontological assumption is that reality is different for everyone, which means everyone's ontological assumptions are different. This allowed for the research that is conducted to be viewed by many different people in many ways. It is impossible to read a research study and know exactly what that person's reality is. This philosophical assumption allows researchers to have their viewpoints on what is reality and what is not. It also gives researchers a type of freedom when using this to develop their themes while conducting research, allowing the researchers' studies to be more personalized.

Epistemological Assumption

The next type of philosophical assumption is epistemological. Epistemology is described by Creswell and Poth (2018) "as qualitative research that tries to get as close to the participants

as possible" (p. 21). The knowledge gained by these studies allows for subjective evidence to be put together based on individual views. The longer a researcher can research the participants and environment, the more knowledge they can gain. My epistemological assumption is that the longer a subject can be researched, and a relationship can be established, then the more data that can be collected and the more reliable data becomes. People who read this study are going to be much more trusting of the results if the researcher has spent one to two semesters studying the participants instead of 3 weeks. This type of assumption also allows the researchers to give their interpretations in conjunction with participants' views.

Axiological Assumption

The last philosophical assumption is the axiological assumption. According to Creswell and Poth (2018), "This is the process of research, as well as the language of research" (p. 20). This process allows researchers to describe in detail the context of their study in addition to continually revising the questions they have from experience in the field. The axiological assumption also allows researchers to share their values with the participants. My axiological assumption is that this can be used to share why the research is important to the researcher and why the study needs to be conducted. It allows participants a window into a researcher's why. Allowing participants to know why the research is being conducted can help researchers build relationships with them, which, in turn, can lead to more reliable data.

Researcher's Role

In qualitative research studies, the researcher is the human instrument that collects the data (Pezalla et al., 2012). This means that biases can be present because human beings tend to err on the side of subjective instead of objective. In qualitative research, researchers try to bracket their personal biases to get the most accurate, reliable, and replicable data. The research

questions and settings were chosen due to the interests and passions of the researcher. The researcher has worked in a similar program at another community college but is no longer employed there and has no personal or authoritative connections to any participants. The researcher also has extensive knowledge and education of individuals with disabilities. Due to the nature of the research design, the researcher was the one who conducted the focus groups, individual interviews, and the writing of journal prompts. The data collection methods were recorded, and the researcher transcribed the voice recordings accurately. The roles of the researcher in this study included data collection and data analysis to answer the research questions with the least number of personal biases possible.

Procedures

The procedures section of the dissertation gives a step-by-step explanation of how the study proceeded. This section provides enough details in hopes that the study can be replicated in the future. This section includes site permissions and information on the institutional review board (IRB) approval and describes how participants were recruited. It explains in detail the data collection procedures, the method of data analysis by each data source, and how triangulation was achieved. This section begins with how permissions were granted for this study.

Permissions

Procedurally, the study began when the required IRB approval was granted (see Appendix A). Written site permission forms were sent to the college administrators and directors of the program before IRB approval to confirm whether they do or do not have their own IRB approval process (see Appendix B). Once the study received IRB approval, participant recruitment information was sent to the program director for approval (see Appendix C). Once

approval was granted from the director, recruitment meetings were performed, and participant and guardian participation permission forms were signed (see Appendix D).

Recruitment Plan

After obtaining approval from the IRB of Liberty University, I began recruiting 10 participants. In phenomenology, the number of participants ranges from one (Padilla, 2003) to 325 (Polkinghorne, 1989). Dukes (1984) indicated studying three to 10 participants, but Edwards (2006) studied 33. Using 10 participants should help to saturate the findings and allow enough information to be gathered (Creswell & Poth, 2018). First, I asked for permission from the college and program director to recruit students. After receiving approval from the college and director, I posted a flyer in each classroom in which the students were taught. I also went to each classroom and gave a 10- to 15-minute overview of the study and explained what the expectations were for the participants. I also held information sessions for the parents and guardians of the students to inform them about the study and what was expected of their students. I then received written permission from the participants and guardians before moving forward with the study. I believe this was necessary because the population I was working with is considered a vulnerable population. Emphasis was put on the fact that participation was voluntary, and participants could withdraw from the study at any time. To be recruited for this study, participants had to be enrolled in the C.A. program. The participants had to be between the ages of 18-50 years. The individuals had to be diagnosed with an ID from an educational institution. Participants also had to have completed the occupational course of study in high school and had not received a traditional diploma.

Data Collection Plan

Three types of data collection were used in this study: interviews, focus groups, and journal prompts. Interviews are the most common form of data collection for this type of research and were the primary source of data for this dissertation. Interviews allow researchers to have conversations with participants about their experiences with the phenomenon in a one-on-one setting. Interviews allow the participants to narrate their own experiences. The other two types of data collection used in transcendental research that were employed in the current study include the use of journal prompts and focus groups. Focus group interviews can help participants feel more comfortable and help them to be more open when answering questions about their experiences. As a complement to the interviews, journal prompts allowed the participants to write out their experiences, which may be an easier way to communicate for some individuals with disabilities. The journal prompts included accommodations for individuals who needed them. Interviews were conducted first, then journal prompts, and lastly focus groups were completed.

Individual Interview Data Collection Approach

Interviews allowed the researcher to have conversations with participants about their experience with the phenomenon in a one-on-one setting. Interviews allowed the participants to narrate their own experiences. An important part of the interviews included fieldnotes that allowed feedback on the interview process and helped the researcher adjust and critique herself for the next interview. When conducting interviews, it was important to have digital audio-recorders readily available to produce clear recordings, which aided in more accurate transcriptions. Interview guides were prepared to provide information to the IRB for ethical approval. Interviews were conducted first. They were conducted one-on-one with each

participant at a predetermined date and time. Each interview was recorded and then transcribed for data collection purposes.

Individual Interview Questions:

- 1. Please tell me your name and more about yourself. CRQ
- 2. Please describe your academic journey so far. SQ1
- 3. Why did you choose to complete more education after completing high school? SQ1
- 4. Describe how you heard about the C.A. that you are enrolled in. CRQ
- 5. Describe some of your experiences since you have been participating in the C.A. program. SQ1
- 6. Describe your relationship with the teachers who are involved with the C.A. that you are enrolled in. SQ3
- 7. Describe the relationship with teachers who are not involved on a day-to-day basis with the C.A. that you are enrolled in. SQ3
- 8. Describe in detail what has been the most challenging part of the C.A. program. SQ1
- 9. Describe your relationship with students outside of the C.A. who you interact with on the college campus. SQ2
- 10. Describe how students outside of the C.A. make you feel included on campus. SQ2
- 11. Describe how teachers make you feel included on campus. SQ3
- 12. Describe your experiences as an individual enrolled in the C.A. on a college campus.

 CRQ

Questions 1, 2, and 3 are introductory questions that allowed the participants to warm-up. Questions 4, 5, 8, and 12 are related to the participants' experiences while enrolled in the program. Questions 6, 7, and 9 discuss how the individuals feel when describing their

relationships with neurotypical peers and faculty members. Questions 10 and 11 discuss how neurotypical peers and faculty make individuals with disabilities feel included on campus.

Data Analysis Plan

Data analysis of individual interviews began with transcribing the interviews. Data analysis then moved to the beginning phase of interpretation. This was when the researcher read the transcription from start to finish and began developing a list of significant statements, a process called horizontalization of data (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Then the initial coding process began. A list of rudimentary themes and patterns was started. Then the analysis moved to sample early coding, which is the process that reflects the philosophical tenets of the methodology. The next step was to write interpretative summaries, which summarized the story and the interviews' points. Meditating on the data came next and was the process of building meaning and understanding of the material, which led to an interpretation of the data. Epoch was used to bracket the researcher's own experiences in addition to looking at the data from a fresh perspective (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Bubbling up is one of the last steps when a researcher meditates on the data and allows themes to bubble up and reveal what was concealed. The whole process of data analysis was a continuous circle or spiral where themes emerged, and the researcher returned to the data to re-read it (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Lastly, the researcher produced an output of the interpretation of the data and presented the themes that were found during the individual interviews.

Journal Prompt Data Collection Approach

Journal prompts data collection (see Appendix E) was when the participants were given a prompt and were expected to write a response to the question or statement that was provided.

Journal prompts allowed the participants the opportunity to draft, edit, and submit their responses

to the researcher. Journal prompts were used to complement the individual interviews and helped to enrich the perspectives of the participants in the study. Considering that the participants were diagnosed with disabilities, this type of data collection gave them the opportunity to express their experiences in a way other than just vocally. It also gave the participants time to think and respond without the pressure they may have felt when they were one-on-one in the interview situation. Four journal prompts were given over the course of the research study. Participants were given 2 weeks to reply to each prompt. Each prompt took only 10 to 15 minutes to complete. Due to their disabilities, the participants could use a support person to help with the reading of prompts, as well as conveying their responses through writing or typing.

Data Analysis Approach

Data analysis of journal prompts began with the researcher familiarizing herself with the data. This allowed the researcher to become aware of any limitations or gaps in the data. Identifying the limitations or gaps allowed for changes in future data collection attempts. The next step was writing memos of the initial reactions to the collected data. Creswell and Poth (2018) described memos as being helpful in capturing experiences or statements that can be analytically important in answering the research questions. Structural descriptions were created to answer the how of the experience (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Coding was the next step in thematic analysis. The researcher went through the journal prompts, assigning thematic codes. The researcher then moved the codes into categories. To create categories, the researcher had to recognize the differences, similarities, and relationships in the data. Using the categories, themes that are responsive to the similarities and differences observed were developed. Lastly, the researcher produced an output of the interpretation of the data and presented the themes that were found during the journal prompt data analysis.

Focus Group Data Collection Approach

Focus groups allowed the researcher an opportunity to interact with multiple participants at the same time, which can make participants feel more comfortable or relatable when discussing their experience with the phenomenon. These meetings were the last step in the data collection process. Gathering the participants in groups allowed them to interact with one another and gave them the opportunity to share their experiences. Focus groups were beneficial when the interaction among interviewers was likely to yield the best information due to limited time and individuals who were hesitant during one-on-one interviews (Krueger & Casey, 2015). For the focus groups, 5-10 individuals were gathered to conduct the group interviews. Focus group meetings were recorded to ensure accurate data collection and transcription. Focus groups helped the researcher confirm or expand on the themes that were present in the collection of initial data. These groups were also used to validate and refine the data that had already been collected (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Focus Group Questions

- 1. Discuss why you wanted to join the C.A. training program. CRQ
- 2. Describe any feelings you have concerning the classroom or space in which the C.A. takes place. SQ1
- 3. How would you describe what being included means? SQ1
- 4. Describe how you feel about being on a college campus with students and teachers outside of the C.A. program. SQ2, SQ3
- Describe any student or faculty member who has gone above and beyond to make you feel included on campus. SQ2, SQ3

- Describe any programs or clubs on campus that make you feel more included. CRQ,
 SQ1
- 7. Describe how you feel when you are in your classroom on campus with other students who are enrolled in the C.A. program. CRQ
- 8. What could be done on campus to make you feel more included? SQ1

Question 1 is an introductory question that allows the participants to warm-up. Questions 2, 3, 6, and 8 discuss inclusion and the environment of the PSE program. Questions 4 and 5 discuss the relationships that individuals with disabilities may have formed on campus. Question 7 discusses how the students feel when they are in their learning environment with peers who also have disabilities.

Data Analysis Plan

The first step in data analysis of focus group interviews was to review and transcribe the interviews. This helped the researcher to categorize data and pull-out important quotes. Textural and structural descriptions were created to describe how the context or setting influenced the participants (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Then the major themes were identified. These were the major ideas that emerged during the focus group interviews. Next, the data were organized and categorized. This means the responses were organized by questions and could then be categorized under each type of theme that was found. This information was organized in an Excel document, which made data analysis easier. By now, the data had been studied inside and out, and interpretation and summaries were completed. These two steps helped the researcher to determine the main ideas, important quotes, most common responses, and other important information for data analysis. A formal report was written for the findings to be fully presented.

To present the data output in a group fashion, the findings used terms like most, very few, and the majority to discuss and evaluate the themes that were found in the group setting.

Data Synthesis

After all the forms of data collection were transcribed and an early coding system had been developed, the next step was to synthesize the data that had been collected. To synthesize data, all forms of data were collected and put into an Excel spreadsheet, which helped categorize the data by type, theme, and any important quotes from the data. This allowed the researcher to have a bird's eye view of the emerging categories that have been found. The Excel spreadsheet also made it easier for the researcher to read and re-read data to revise any information. Once all the information had been organized in the Excel spreadsheet, the most common themes between the three types of data collection were used to illustrate the findings from the study. These themes were organized from most important to least important in the form of paragraphs. This helped the researcher to tell the story of the phenomenon from multiple points of view and how the themes emerged during the research process. This also allowed the data to be organized in a way that made it easier for the readers to understand why the themes were chosen and how they related to the study's research questions.

Trustworthiness

Lincoln and Guba (1985) responded to positivists about a lack of reliability, rigor, and objectivity when creating terms that paralleled those of quantitative research. They specifically constructed the terms for qualitative research, which are credibility, transferability, dependably, and conformability. These terms were developed to support the trustworthiness of a study and the study's ability to be replicated. These terms are synonyms of quantitative terms, such as internal and external validity, reliability, and objectivity. The terms in qualitative research have

different meanings and implications for the quality and rigor of the study. Using the information laid out by Lincoln and Guba, the following sections will describe the measures taken to make sure this study is rigorous.

Credibility

Credibility refers to the extent to which the study's findings accurately describe reality, at least according to the perceptions of participants, as a proximation of the truth of the phenomenon in question (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). I achieved creditability in three ways: (a) persistent observation, (b) triangulation, and (c) member checking.

Persistent Observation

If the purpose of prolonged engagement is to render the inquirer open to the multiple influences—the mutual shapers and contextual factors—that impinge upon the phenomenon being studied, the purpose of persistent observation is to identify those characteristics and elements in the situation that are most relevant to the problem or issue being pursued and focusing on them in detail. If prolonged engagement provides scope, persistent observation provides depth. (Lincoln & Guba, 1985, p. 304)

This type of observation is important because it allows the researcher the opportunity to be persistent and explore the details of the phenomena on a deep enough level to decide what are the most important and relevant aspects of the study. Persistent observation in this study helped confirm credibility because it allowed the researcher to focus more in-depth on the experiences that students have had within the postsecondary job training programs and to pull out the most important aspects of their experiences.

Triangulation

In this study, I undertook triangulation of data collection methods, sources, and internal validity to explore the experiences shared by individuals with disabilities enrolled in postsecondary job training programs. Data collection methods triangulation was accomplished through using focus groups, individual interviews, and journal prompts. Source triangulation was achieved by using the individual's perspectives on the phenomenon of their experiences during their time enrolled in the postsecondary job training programs. Internal validity triangulation was accomplished by comparing diverse data sets to find inconsistencies or differences that could cause weakness in the validity. If or when a weakness was discovered, it allowed for the study to be strengthened.

Member Checking

Having worked in a postsecondary job training program for individuals with disabilities gave me an insider's connection with my participants. This insider's perspective, which Rossman and Rallis (2016) refer to as *emic perspective* can be an advantage for researchers and allowed me to reflect on the meaning of the participants' words during the interviews. This immediate member checking (Lincoln & Guba, 1985) was important; during the interviews, I confirmed some concepts by asking questions from various perspectives to ensure I captured the essence of the experiences. For further member checking, I provided willing participants with a copy of their transcripts and a list of what I believed were the main points of their experiences to check for accuracy.

Transferability

Transferability is showing that the findings may have applicability in other contexts (Lincoln & Guba, 1985), which is largely achieved by using thick descriptions when describing

research findings (Geertz, 1973/2008). The descriptions I used to describe the experiences of individuals with IDs at one public community college painted a picture of the experiences and success that these individuals have had when participating in postsecondary job training and remediation at the college level. The participants' testimonies were so aligned that it suggested that the experiences these students had had were successful and could be replicated in other college settings, whether at the community college or university level. This study may offer the first step in an understanding of the effects of postsecondary job training for individuals with disabilities.

Dependability

Dependability is showing that the findings are consistent and could be repeated (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Descriptions that were provided from my procedures are detailed enough that this study can be replicated. Methods for this study were developed to keep the procedures straightforward and supported by the literature. Although detailed, the procedures were kept simple enough to make replication easier and more successful for future researchers. My committee members and I have reviewed the procedures and decided they demonstrated mastery of the method as it was designed.

Confirmability

Confirmability is a degree of neutrality or the extent to which the findings of a study are shaped by the respondents and not researcher bias, motivation, or interest (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Three techniques were used to accomplish the confirmability of this study. First, an audit trail was created, which showcased the procedures, raw and analyzed data, and the final findings allowing for tracking if needed. Second, the various types of triangulations were used to ensure confirmability within the study. The third technique included being reflexive within the study.

Reflexivity is an attitude of attending systematically to the context of knowledge construction, especially to the effect of the researcher, at every step of the research process (Cohen & Crabtree, 2006). To employ reflexivity, a journal of sorts was created with short summaries of thoughts I had during the study. Using this strategy helped to bracket my bias and allowed me to be more reflexive.

Ethical Considerations

Considerations have been discussed to ensure that all participants were treated ethically. The measures that were taken include obtaining informed consent from the participants or their guardians, as well as informing individuals that their participation was completely voluntary and that they may withdraw from the study at any time (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Participants were also informed about the confidentiality of the study and that pseudonyms would be used for their names plus the site that is being used (Creswell & Poth, 2018). To ensure confidentiality, all paper documents were stored in locked filling cabinets. All electronic files were saved under password-protected files on a password-protected computer. Any data that will not benefit future researchers will be destroyed after 3 years. Data determined to be beneficial for future research will not be destroyed. Risks versus benefits have also been discussed with every participant in addition to any possible risks that they may encounter and what factors have been mitigated to ensure the safety of all participants (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Summary

Chapter Three includes the methods and procedures that were employed to complete this study. This chapter gave detailed information on the permissions and recruitment process.

Chapter Three then moved into the data collection plan. Each method of data collection was explained with a plan of how each method was analyzed. A data synthesis section was also

included to explain how findings were synthesized. Chapter Three also covered the trustworthiness of this study by explaining the credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability. Ethical considerations were also explained in detail. The section concludes with a summary of what was included in Chapter Three. Chapter Four explains the findings of this study in detail.

CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS

Overview

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to describe the lived experiences of individuals with IDs in an inclusive PSE program. Through this study, the researcher set out to understand and describe the experiences and perspectives of individuals with IDs who were enrolled in an inclusive PSE program. The contents of Chapter Four include participant information; the findings from the interviews, journal prompts, and focus groups; outlier data; and research question responses. The findings are organized according to themes that emerged through the transcriptions of interviews and focus groups and the review of the journal prompts written by the participants. Chapter Four concludes with responses to the research question and sub-questions.

Participants

The participants for this study were between the ages of 18 and 50 years, had an identified ID, and were enrolled in the C.A. program. A presentation was given to the students in the program and consent forms were sent home with each student. After 2 weeks, six participants had brought their consent forms back. I returned to the program to conduct interviews and was able to get four more consent forms signed by speaking with parents, guardians, and social workers. I was able to meet with the participants through one-on-one interviews and focus groups. To collect data on the journal prompts, emails were sent to the students, and they replied with their experiences in written form. Table 1 summarizes the information of the 10 student participants who volunteered for the research study.

Table 1Student Participants Enrolled in C.A.

Participant Pseudonym	Age	Disability
K.K.	20	intellectual disability
J.H.	23	Down syndrome
C.K.	22	Autism
T.S.	46	intellectual disability
M.L.	20	Down syndrome
R.M.	21	Autism
H.F.	19	Autism
B.B.	24	intellectual disability
T.P.	20	Autism
S.L.	21	intellectual disability

Note. C.A. = pseudonym for the program that the students are enrolled in. A pseudonym is used to maintain confidentiality.

K.K.

K.K. was a 20-year-old African American female enrolled in the C.A. program at P.C.C. She has an unspecified ID. She has been enrolled in the program since August 2023. She came to the program after she was unsuccessful in the criminal justice program at P.C.C. She has been in the foster care system all her life. She enjoys reading, talking, and texting with her friends on the phone. She was recently employed at a fast-food restaurant but had some issues with social

interactions with neurotypical peers, and K.K. quit the job. She has identified friends within the C.A. program and likes her instructors.

J.H.

J.H. was a 23-year-old African American male with Down syndrome who was enrolled in the C.A. program at P.C.C. This was his first year in the C.A. program. J.H. enjoys football, sports, ECU (a local college), and being a light to others around him. He enjoys volunteering and going to church with his family. J.H. has many friends within the C.A. program and is very social. He enjoys talking and interacting with others. He enjoys working with the instructors and has learned new skills in math and reading since joining the C.A. program.

C.K.

C.K. was a 22- year-old Caucasian male with autism. He enjoys video games and movies and learning about how to direct and produce movies. He is also very interested in horror films. C.K. works at two local businesses, a coffee shop and a bakery. He is a greeter at the coffee shop, and he helps dip treats at the bakery. C.K. is very particular about his routines and, when his routines change, he becomes upset or angry. He has one to two friends in the C.A. program but prefers to work alone. He enjoys having his headphones on and "minding his own business." **T.S.**

T.S. was a 46-year-old African American female with an unspecified ID. She was under the supervision of a social worker. She has been enrolled in the C.A. program since July 2023. She joined the C.A. program in hopes of working in a daycare with babies in the future. Within the classroom, T.S. stays to herself and has one to two friends she speaks with. She is very caring and protective of her friends within the program. She reported having a good relationship with the instructors.

M.L.

M.L. was a 20-year-old Caucasian female with Down syndrome. This was M.L.'s first year in the C.A. program. She is very friendly and loves to talk. At times, it can be difficult to understand M.L., and she must repeat herself. She enjoys talking about her older brother and her boyfriend. She enjoys playing video games when she is not in class. M.L. enjoys working on math problems in class but dislikes reading. M.L. reported having a good relationship with her instructors and that they help her immensely.

R.M.

R.M. was a 21-year-old Caucasian male who has autism and other unspecified IDs. He is very friendly, loves to smile, and compliments everyone he encounters. He really enjoys reading and memorizing the daily weather reports and often writes emails to his instructors about them.

R.M. is very religious and wants everyone to see his light shine. He enjoys participating in IXL and Blooket within the classroom. IXL is an online platform with practice questions on math and reading. Blooket is a review game that instructors can set up to help students review math and reading skills. R.M. described his instructors as caring and helpful.

H.F.

H.F. was a 19-year-old Caucasian female with autism and other unspecified IDs who has been enrolled in the C.A. since July 2023. H.F. enjoys working on the computer with her headphones on and keeping to herself. She gets nervous and has a hard time expressing her feelings when she feels overwhelmed or upset. While the researcher was observing in the classroom, there was no interaction between H.F. and other students within the program. She enjoys creating artwork on the computer and participating in Blooket activities. When asked about her instructors, she said they were good.

B.B.

B.B. was a 24-year-old African American female with an unspecified ID. She enrolled in the C.A. program after relocating from a similar program in New Jersey. B.B. was currently employed at an assisted living facility as a nutrition assistant where she helps take food to and from the elderly people who live at the facility. B.B. is very kind and enjoys caring for people. She hopes the C.A. program will help her advance in her career in nutrition. B.B. is active and enjoys exercising. She spends her breaks during class walking around campus. B.B. has a few friends in the C.A. program and some other friends who are not enrolled in the C.A. program but who are on campus at P.C.C. She reported having a good relationship with her instructors in the C.A. program.

T.P.

S.L.

T.P. was a 20-year-old Caucasian male with autism and was in his first year in the C.A. program at P.C.C. He enjoys playing video games and being on the computer. T.P. volunteers at a local coffee shop a few days a week. While participating in the program, he has helped make wreaths that the program sells, and participating in IXL and Blooket. T.P.'s favorite subject in class is math. He finds reading and writing to be more challenging. T.P. has one to two friends within the program. He reported that the instructors in the C.A. program are very helpful.

S.L. was a 21-year-old Caucasian male with an unspecified ID. He has been enrolled in the C.A. program since July 2023. He is very friendly and speaks to everyone when entering the classroom. S.L. has many friends within the program. His favorite part of the program was making wreaths and selling them at a local craft show on the campus of P.C.C. S.L. enjoys learning through IXL and Blooket during class. He reports having a great relationship with his

instructors and that they help him learn tremendously. S.L. hopes that the C.A. program can teach him the skills needed to find a job at the completion of the program.

Results

The results section of this chapter delineates the identified themes and sub-themes from the interviews, journal prompts, and focus groups. The five most recorded themes from the data were educational and career aspirations, concept of inclusion, inclusivity and social engagement, campus engagement and support networks, and sense of belonging. Two sub-themes were identified under the educational and career aspiration theme: career and professional development and real-world application and practice. Any outlier information is also located within this section. Answers to the central research question and the sub-questions are also provided with data collected from the interviews, journal prompts, and focus groups. This section ends with a summary of the findings and results before transitioning to Chapter Five, the conclusion.

Educational and Career Aspirations

After conducting one-on-one interviews and focus groups, it is clear that all participants in the C.A. program had educational and career aspirations. The word job or work was used 27 times during one-on-one interviews and 16 times during focus group interviews. The word job or work was mentioned five times during journal prompts. During interviews and focus groups, all participants mentioned wanting to obtain a job like a movie director (C.K.) or move on to another school such as the local university (J.H.) after leaving the C.A. program. It is very apparent that they do not let their diagnoses of an ID hold them back or stop them from planning for their futures. J.H. decided to come to the C.A. "because it is a nice place and I want to graduate, and make something out of myself." Some participants also shared what they would

like to do as a career while participating in the C.A. program or after completion of the program. During the interview, C.K. said his dream job is to be a "movie maker, producer, director, and voice actor, and train engineer." Many of the participants in the C.A. program also volunteered in the community to gain career and professional development. This information led to the development of the sub-themes of career and professional development and real-world application and practice.

Career and Professional Development

While participating in the C.A. program, participants had the opportunity to learn about careers and the skills needed to be successful in these positions. During the interviews, many of the participants discussed how they took a field trip to a convention center to attend a local job fair. K.K. discussed the jobs they learned about while on the field trip, which included "the BLET program, the police program, and engineering." While the researcher was observing a class in the C.A. program, the instructors made a game where students answered a life and career skill question and then got to take their turn in a game of Jenga. This activity not only reviewed what the students had learned but it taught them how to work together so the tower did not fall. The C.A. program also worked collaboratively with a local university where other college students come to teach the students about wellness, time management, and other life and career skills. T.P. shared that the other college students "took them to a grocery store to do a scavenger hunt for food for Thanksgiving."

Real-World Application and Practice

The participants in the C.A. program had opportunities in the community to use the life and career skills they had learned during the program in real-world application and practice. Six out of ten participants have or have had paid employment or volunteer opportunities during their

time in the C.A. program. These participants are K.K., B.B., C.K., T.P., H.F., and S.L. B.B. shared, "I work at an assisted living in the nutrition department. I deliver food, go by diets, and make sure their food is right." Another participant, C.K., volunteers at a coffee company and works at a local bakery. C.K. says, "I make cake pops, buckeyes, dipped pretzels, and Ned's favorites." Although paid employment is the goal, volunteering allows the participants to practice their skills in a real-world environment. H.F. volunteers at a local nonprofit clothing store. "I organize clothes by colors and clean windows," shared H.F. The C.A. program also made wreaths to sell at holiday events. "I did help my instructors sell wreaths at the holiday show. I even took pictures with them to remember the wreaths I made," recounted S.L.

Concept of Inclusion

Focus group questions concentrated on the concept of being included in the C.A. program and on the college campus. All participants felt like they were included within their classroom and with their instructors in the C.A. program. All participants were asked what it means to be included before moving to other focus group questions. M.L. responded with the word "group" when asked about what being included means. "Included means to do everything that everybody is doing and to be involved in activities and situations," was the reply given by R.M. There were mixed feelings about whether they felt included on the college campus as a whole. When asked what it means to be included, there were also varying responses. When out on campus, K.K. says, "It's kind of weird but it's okay." H.F. shared, "I feel comfortable" when asked about how they feel while on campus and not in their C.A. classroom.

Inclusivity and Social Engagement

Throughout the entire study while the researcher was conducting interviews, journal prompts, and focus groups, there was a reoccurring focus on being included and what that means.

Throughout the focus group interview the words everyone, everybody, involved, and included were mentioned 35 times when discussing inclusion among participants. When asked about being included or feeling included, the participants used words such as "included," "in a group," or "with everyone" 20 times during one-on-one interviews. The participants felt included when they were around people, participating in games, or engaging with others on campus. T.P. feels included "When I get into games with everyone." S.L. feels included "When everyone's around." Seven participants were in their first year of the C.A. program and three were in their second year of the program. All 10 participants reported that they had been invited to one campus-wide activity since joining the C.A. program. When asked about being invited to join programs or clubs on campus, S.L. shared, "On email, yes, but I didn't want to." R.M. said when talking about people on campus, "Well, I'm a bright light so when someone sees me they say 'hey R' and it's good to see you today. I don't know their names, but they know me." Some participants shared how they thought they could be included more on the college campus to improve social engagement. B.B. felt like they could be included more and asked, "Tell us more about clubs that are happening on campus." M.L. would like to be invited to "pep rallies" to feel more included on campus.

Campus Engagement and Support Networks

Participants were given a 30-minute break each day when they could leave the classroom and walk on campus or stay in the room. This provided varying levels of engagement for participants and the broader campus community. Some had had positive interactions, some had had negative interactions, and some had had no interactions with students or teachers on campus. "I was sexually harassed," K.K. shared about the negative experience she had while being on campus. "Well, my friend, he told me he's in welding and maybe I should join that, but I don't

think I would like welding," B.B. recounts about a positive experience on campus. When talking about being on campus and inclusion, T.S. reported a time when she went to the book store: "I went over there to the book store and a lady gave me two doughnuts from Krispy Kreme." The other students—H.F., T.P, and C.K. —reported no interactions with other students or teachers on campus. They tended to spend their break time in the classroom eating or playing on the computers.

Sense of Belonging

All participants had positive comments about the C.A. program and its environment. They all reported a sense of being comfortable and happy in the classroom. This shows that the C.A. program provided a supportive and inclusive environment that helped its participants feel a sense of belonging while enrolled. M.L. felt "happy" while in the classroom. As a closing statement, J.H. said, "Yes, I love it here. I love being here. I love doing work here, supporting all the people here." All 10 participants reported having at least one friend within the C.A. program, but they all had varying ideas about interactions while in class. When asked about friends in the classroom, T.S. shared, "Yeah, I talk to bunch of them, but I usually stay to myself. That's the best way to be, to be to yourself, and you don't got nothing to worry about." R.M. reported, "TJ, he's not here today, but he's my best friend. We've been friends since third grade. I like everybody." It was also reported that all participants had good relationships with their instructors, which helped them feel included and to belong. "Oh, yes I get along with them. Especially Mrs. B.; I love Mrs. B. like a grandma. She, I got three words, funny, nice, and caring," shared J.H. When asked about the teachers, S.L. replied, "They make me comfortable. They make me right at home."

Outlier Data and Findings

As with any research study, some unexpected findings and themes did not align with the specific research questions that were chosen. Two of the main findings or themes that did not align included the participants sharing where there were potential areas for improvement when it comes to the C.A. program and a desire for more inclusion on the college campus.

Potential Areas of Improvement

Although most of the discussion about the C.A. program and the inclusive college campus was positive and everyone was satisfied with their experiences overall, there were still areas that were mentioned that could be improved. The focus groups provided most of the data for this outlier theme. Most of the participants agreed that they could be more included while on campus through clubs or activities. R.M. would like to create or join a Bible club and S.L. would like to join an anime club. During the focus group discussions, it became apparent that there was a bridge needed between the C.A. program and the college campus. One participant gave input on how the C.A. program could improve. B.B. stated, "They could provide homework for us and work on computer skills and more hands-on activities."

Desire for More Inclusion

It became apparent through the interviews and focus groups that there was a minuscule number of interactions between the C.A. participants and their neurotypical peers and the faculty members on the college campus. Most participants replied "no" when asked if they knew any other instructors or had any friends outside the C.A. Though there were little to no interactions with other members of the college community, that did not deter the participants from wanting to be included more. B.B. suggested, "Partnerships with other students or mentors would help them feel more included." For more inclusion, other participants discussed having safer sidewalks,

more clubs, and more activities that they could participate in.

Research Question Responses

This section offers concise answers to the following central research question: What are the lived experiences of individuals with IDs enrolled in an inclusive postsecondary career and technical training program located on a college campus? This section also answers the following sub-questions: (a) What are the experiences of individuals with IDs and their participation in postsecondary programs? (b) How do individuals with IDs feel about their relationships with nondisabled peers on the inclusive college campus? (c) How do individuals with IDs feel about their relationships with faculty members on the inclusive college campus? These questions were answered using one-on-one interviews, journal prompts, and focus groups.

Central Research Question

What are the lived experiences of individuals with IDs enrolled in an inclusive postsecondary career and technical training programs located on a college campus? Through interviews, journal prompts, and focus groups, this question was answered in many ways by the participants. The participants discussed what they had learned, field trips they had gone on, friends they had made, and what they had done on campus. "They teach us about cooking. We went to the garden and stuff, plant our plants, and harvest it, take out the old plants, and replant them again for next year, and crafting and stuff," the participants said when sharing what they had learned in the C.A. program. Participants also discussed how their relationships with neurotypical peers made them feel while on the inclusive college campus. B.B., T.S., T.P., and K.K. reported having negative and positive experiences with their neurotypical peers on the inclusive college campus. Lastly, the participants shared how their relationships with faculty members who are involved daily with the C.A. program and who are not involved with the

program made then feel while on the inclusive college campus. When asked about their C.A. program instructor, K.K. shared, "It's good. I like my teachers. I don't have no problem. They help us with our papers and teach us social skills, math, and reading." Only one C.A. participant had interactions or relationships with faculty members not associated with the C.A. program.

K.K. reported having a positive relationship with faculty members who were in the criminal justice program.

Sub-Question One

What are the experiences of individuals with IDs and their participation in PSE programs? Participants discussed what they had learned, what they had done on campus, friends they had, and field trips that they had gone on since being in the C.A. program. S.L. summed up his experience in the C.A. program as "a fun place to learn new stuff." In one interview, R.M. shared, "They teach us life skill things. They give us word searches. We go on IXL. We do a lot of math skills and money skills. We did like job interview skills, like what to say, what to wear and not to wear and all that. They teach us a lot of things. I really appreciate it a lot." M.L. said, "I love college," when asked about her experiences in the C.A. program. Many participants discussed the field trips the classes had taken, which included a trip to a job fair and a trip with other local college students to Food Lion for a Thanksgiving scavenger hunt. The C.A. program also gave the participants a chance to make new friends through this experience. When asked about their friends in the program, J.H. replied, "Oh, yes. T., K., B., Mrs. B, Mrs., and T. are all my friends." Some participants even developed friends outside of the C.A. program. B.B. recalled a time when her friend invited her to try something new on campus: "He's in welding and that maybe I should join that, but I don't think I would like welding." The participants also discussed being involved in a spring fling pep rally, going to the library, visiting the bookstore,

and planting a garden on campus.

Sub-Question Two

How do individuals with IDs feel about their relationships with nondisabled peers on the inclusive college campus? There were mixed reviews about relationships with neurotypical peers on the inclusive college campus. Many participants had little to no interactions with neurotypical peers on campus. When asked if they knew or interacted with anyone not in the C.A. program, S.L., H.F., J.H., M.L., and C.K. all said, "No." R.M. replied, "When someone sees me, they say, 'Hey, R.' and 'It's good to see you,'" but he does not know the people's names who speak to him on campus. Four of the 10 participants had positive and negative interactions with neurotypical peers. K.K. had a negative experience on campus when she was sexually harassed. B.B. was invited to try a new program or career by her friend on campus. T.S. was given doughnuts from a student who worked in the bookstore. T.P. recalled a time when he attended the spring fling, and his neurotypical peer helped him make a "calm down" bottle. There is a group of local college neurotypical students who come to campus to work with the participants in the C.A. program but are not enrolled at P.C.C. S.L. shared about students from the wellness program: "They teach us about things like time management and self-esteem." B.B. discussed how the student volunteers worked with them in "small groups and teach them about money, budgeting, independency, learning how to socialize and interact with other people." Participants enrolled in this wellness program reported positive interactions with those neurotypical peers who volunteer. "I feel so excited, like I really want to grow up and attend the college they go to and play basketball," replied J.H. when asked about how the student volunteers made him feel.

Sub-Question Three

How do individuals with IDs feel about their relationships with faculty members on the inclusive college campus? All participants had positive feelings toward their instructors who they work with daily. J.H. shared that when he is included by the instructors in the C.A. program he feels "happy and cared for." C.K. replied, "I feel happy," when asked about how he feels about the instructors in the C.A. program. Nine out of 10 participants reported having had little to no interactions with faculty members not associated with the C.A. program. S.L., C.K., H.F., J.H., T.S., T.P., M.L., B.B., and R.M. all replied "No" when asked if they had a relationship or interactions with faculty members who were not their instructors in the C.A. program. K.K. was the only participant who had had interactions with faculty members who were not her daily instructors. K.K. shared that she was participating in the criminal justice program before being moved to the C.A. program. She said, "Two of them were my criminal justice teachers and one my advisor. They told me to be good and do what I am supposed to," when asked how the other faculty members on campus had helped her.

Summary

Through one-on-one interviews, journal prompts, and focus groups, five main themes and two sub-themes emerged. These themes included educational and career aspirations, concept of inclusion, inclusivity and social engagement, campus engagement and support networks, and sense of belonging. The sub-themes included career and professional development and real-world application and practice. The data collected in this study have shown that the lived experiences of the individuals with IDs on an inclusive college campus were positive. The experiences included what they had been learning, field trips they had gone on, things they had done on campus, and the friends they had made through the C.A. program. The participants also

discussed having good relationships with the instructors who they work with daily in the C.A. program. The majority of the participants had little to no interactions with their neurotypical peers or the faculty members on campus who were not involved with the C.A. program.

CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION

Overview

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study is to describe the lived experiences of individuals with IDs in an inclusive PSE program. Chapter Five consists of five discussion subsections: (a) interpretation of findings, (b) implications for policy and practice, (c) theoretical and methodological implications, (d) limitations and delimitations, and (e) recommendations for future research. This section ends with a summary of the whole study and includes implications for further research as the conclusion of the dissertation.

Discussion

The purpose of this section is to discuss the study's findings considering the developed themes. The discussion section has five major subsections including (a) Summary and Interpretation of Findings; (b) Implications for Policy or Practice; (c) Theoretical and Empirical Implications; (d) Limitations and Delimitations; and (e) Recommendations for Future Research.

Through the use of one-on-one interviews, journal prompts, and focus groups, five main themes were determined with two sub-themes being identified. The five themes included educational and career aspirations, concept of inclusion, inclusivity and social engagement, campus engagement and support networks, and a sense of belonging. the two sub-themes were identified as career and professional development and real-world application and practice.

Interpretation of Findings

Summary of Thematic Findings

Using the five main themes of educational and career aspirations, concept of inclusion, inclusivity and social engagement, campus engagement and support networks, and a sense of belonging and the sub-themes of career and professional development and real-world application

and practice, the findings will be interpreted. The interpretations will help make connections between the phenomenon, the participants, the setting, the literature, and the theories related to this study.

Promoting Educational and Career Aspirations

With only one negative experience being reported from the study participants, it is clear that all participants have had many positive experiences while participating in the C.A. program. One apparent theme was that, despite their IDs, the participants all had educational and career aspirations. People with IDs value the opportunity to learn (Rillotta et al., 2020), have increased self-esteem and opportunities (Blumberg et al., 2008), feel more confident and independent (Wilson et al., 2012), widen their social networks (Plotner & May, 2019), and have better employment opportunities (Butler et al., 2016) when participating or completing PSE programs. This information suggests there is a need for continued support and resources that give individuals with IDs the opportunity to pursue their educational and career goals. The C.A. program incorporates a mix of reading, math, social skills, and job training to help participants achieve their educational and career goals. Although some of their goals may seem far-fetched, many of the participants have jobs or volunteer regularly at places in the community. Further development of new C.A. programs and adding enhancements to the current C.A. program such as job-specific training and assistance with job placement can help reach more individuals with IDs.

Enhancing Career and Professional Development

Sannicandro et al. (2018) found that individuals who participated in PSE had a much higher rate of employment than those who did not participate. With that being said, there is a clear focus on career and professional development within the C.A. program. Using field trips

and collaboration with local universities, the C.A. program showcases its effectiveness in practical experiences. This implies that an important part of inclusive programs is incorporating real-world application and practice that includes trips to job fairs and opportunities to learn how to act, speak, and dress for an interview. The real-world application and practice prepare individuals with IDs for employment opportunities. Inclusive PSE programming such as the C.A. program has shown effectiveness, with 59% of students being engaged in paid employment 1 year after graduation (Grigal et al., 2021). Moving forward, an expansion of the real-world application with hands-on training and practice would help expand the C.A. program and help more individuals with IDs. The C.A. program at P.C.C. could also be used as a model program for the creation of more inclusive programs across the state and country.

Addressing Inclusivity and Social Engagement on Campus

There are mixed feelings about the inclusivity on the P.C.C. campus. This indicates there is room for improvement in fostering a more inclusive environment. Outliers in the data found that participants longed for more inclusion while on campus. A few participants suggested more access and information about clubs on campus or partnerships with their neurotypical peers. One participant mentioned receiving emails about clubs but said the clubs did not interest them. In a study conducted by Shogren et al. (2015), neurotypical peers think that actions at school and class level could favor a sense of belonging and promote reciprocal friendships with peers with IDs. Through the data collection process, it is apparent that there is a need for a bridge between the C.A. program and the P.C.C. campus as a whole. Although the participants have been invited to some events on campus like a spring fling pep rally, there are varying levels of engagement with the broader campus community. It is important to note that peers shape the social experiences while instructors determine the culture of the learning environment (Cress, 2008).

There is a need for support networks that can provide a more supportive and inclusive environment for individuals with IDs. The partnership with the local university could serve as a pilot program for a more inclusive approach to the C.A. program.

Fostering a Sense of Belonging

There were many positive comments about the environment of the C.A. program indicating that the instructors find it important to foster a sense of belonging among the participants with IDs. When using real-world experiences, engaging computer programs, and hands-on activities, the participants feel like critical components in the C.A. program and as integral parts of a team that help with their success. While the researcher was observing, the class was participating in a game of Jenga. The students had to answer a life skills question and then they would get to move a Jenga piece. This activity helped them to review what they had learned but also helped the class work together toward a common goal. The ability to socialize is essential for students in any PSE program, as it provides them with a sense of belonging (Kern et al., 2018), acceptance, and companionship (Shanay et al., 2013). Supporting student participation and interaction within the courses is a fundamental aspect of inclusion in college (Griffin et al., 2016). Without an emphasis being placed on fostering an environment that makes participants feel like they belong, there may be fewer positive comments and success within the C.A. program. This information implies a need to continue the prioritization of a supportive and inclusive environment within the C.A. program. When participants feel comfortable, happy, and connected, those feelings allow for greater growth and success as they move through the program. Extending and continuing to foster a sense of belonging among the participants will allow for the growth and expansion of inclusion not only in the program but on the entire college campus.

Facilitating Inclusion and Relationships With Neurotypical Peers

Chickering and Reisser (1993) noted that "a student's most important teacher is often another student" (p. 392). A desire for more inclusion was mentioned by the majority of participants in the study. When discussing their limited relationships with their neurotypical peers, the comments were positive overall. The limited interactions with neurotypical peers on the P.C.C. campus demonstrate a need for more inclusion opportunities for the C.A. program. This highlights the importance of promoting understanding, acceptance, and interactions on the college campus with neurotypical peers. Peer-mediated interventions have been used to increase communication, social, academic, and employment skills for different populations of students with IDs (Kaya et al., 2015). Ways to facilitate more inclusion include awareness campaigns, mentorship programs, meaningful jobs on campus, and initiatives that involve interactions between individuals with and without disabilities. Specific curriculum classes could also use the C.A. program for practicums or internships such as the ones the local university does to increase interactions across the college campus. It would also be beneficial to invite the C.A. program to any events that are held on the broader college campus.

Supporting Relationships With Faculty Members Not Involved With the C.A. Program

Through the data collection process, it is apparent that the faculty in the C.A. program are supportive and nurturing and that they help the participants learn in all facets of life. These positive relationships show the significance and need for supportive faculty not only in the C.A. program but across the college campus. Only one participant in the study had interactions with faculty who were not involved regularly with the C.A. program. Such limited interactions hinder the growth within the inclusive C.A. program. It is clear that simply having a seat in a college classroom is not equivalent to inclusion (Uditsky & Hughson, 2012); rather, inclusion is

manifested through attitudes of connection, belonging, acceptance, and value throughout the community. This is a social justice perspective, offering dignity and equality in the higher education community to all members (Hall, 2010). Participants with IDs may have other educational goals, such as a trade job they want to explore, but there has not been a connection formed between the faculty in the C.A. program and the other programs on campus that could help the participants explore different careers. Creating opportunities for faculty members not directly involved in the C.A. program would contribute to a more inclusive experience for the participants with IDs. These interactions could lead to partnerships with different academic programs on campus, which would in turn provide more hands-on job training for the C.A. participants.

Implications for Policy or Practice

Findings from this research study provide implications for policy and practice. The implications for policy include inclusive education polices and funding for inclusive programs, bridge programs, and transition support. The implications for practice include faculty training on inclusion, individualized support plans, and advocacy for inclusive policies.

Implications for Policy

The first implication for policy includes a need for more inclusive education policies.

Currently, there are federal laws that guarantee public education for individuals with IDs from ages 3-21 years. There are currently no laws that guarantee education or programs for individuals with IDs beyond the age of 21. There is VR legislation that makes programs available to individuals with IDs, but it has income limits and other requirements that can exclude some of this population. The Americans With Disabilities Act mandates that all PSE institutions "are required by law to provide any reasonable accommodation that may be necessary for those

people with an identified disability to have equal access to the educational opportunities and services available to neurotypical peers who are neurotypical, if requested" (PL 101-336; PL 105-17, p. 327). This means individuals with IDs may receive support but that does not guarantee a program that fits their specific educational needs. With the enactment of more inclusive policies, individuals with IDs will have more opportunities to pursue their educational and career aspirations. More inclusive policies would ensure that higher education becomes more inclusive, which is important to not only the individuals with IDs but also their neurotypical peers and faculty. Inclusive education policies are imperative to the creation and sustainment of programs for individuals with IDs in higher education.

The second implication for policy includes funding for inclusive programs. Although funding is not guaranteed for any student in PSE programs, once students with IDs transition from high school they are left with fewer options compared to their neurotypical counterparts. More funding would allow students with IDs to have opportunities after aging out of the public school system instead of being left with little to no options. Although there are many funding opportunities available to higher education organizations, higher education institutes are not required to use this funding or to create programs for individuals with IDs. The HEA of 2008 made access to PSE programs easier for individuals with IDs by offering more financial assistance and easier access to PSE programs for individuals with IDs (U.S. Department of Education, 2008). The lack of creation of these programs can be attributed to a lack of education on this specific type of program, population, funding, the number of individuals who are willing to lead a program like this, and the space on campus to house the program. Higher education institutes may blame the lack of programs on funding because the funding may not cover all expenses of the program, which could be solved through scholarships, grants, or charging

nominal fees. Many of the programs for individuals with IDs take place on community college campuses, and if these programs were to expand to universities, more costs would be involved for room and board. With access to specific funding for programs that target the education of people with IDs, higher education programs must take advantage of the available funding.

The third implication for policy is bridge programs and transition support. As mentioned above, some laws guarantee education and support services for individuals with IDs until the age of 21. There is a clear need for bridge programs and transition support for individuals with IDs after finishing public school. Transition support must be interwoven into the creation of more inclusive education policies so that this population is not left on their own after the completion of high school. Inappropriate accommodations, along with the inability of student support services to assist persons with IDs, can considerably impede progress on the educational trajectory (Garrison-Wade, 2012). Transition support and bridge programs are important for the succuss and obtainment of more educational and career skills that individuals with IDs need to become independent and members of the working class. When discussing funding, transition support and bridge programs would also need to be included to prevent push back from higher education programs. Implementing transition support and bridge programs would help make a seamless transition for individuals with IDs to higher education.

Implications for Practice

The first implication for practice is faculty training on inclusion. In some studies found in the related literature, many faculty members did not want individuals with IDs in their classrooms because they did not know how to serve them appropriately. The lack of training opportunities, academic accommodations, postsecondary disability laws, and the over needs of students with IDs are also barriers for faculty members (Lombardi et al., 2013). This study

addresses the clear disconnect between faculty members not directly involved with the C.A. program and the participants with IDs. With more training on inclusion, faculty could feel more comfortable and educated on how to appropriately teach individuals with IDs who are appropriately placed in their classrooms. The faculty members would also be able to modify and accommodate the needs of individuals with all disabilities and not just IDs specifically. Training faculty on inclusion could create partnerships with career programs, which could provide handson job training for individuals with IDs. Mandating inclusion training for all faculty members is beneficial to students with IDs, students with other disabilities, neurotypical peers, and the college campus as a whole.

The second implication for practice is individualized support plans for individuals with IDs. Throughout their time spent in a public school, most of the participants have had an individualized education plan (IEP). An IEP presents an individual's strengths and weaknesses and sets goals for the individual to work toward. Related services they may need such as speech or occupational therapy are also included in the IEP. Once the participants complete high school, they no longer have this IEP or extra support needed to be successful and independent. The lack of adequate preparation in secondary schools and differences in academic achievement between students with and without disabilities are among the most important constraints to a successful transition to higher education (Chatzitheochari & Platt, 2019). Providing an individualized support plan for individuals with IDs before high school completion paired with transition support would lay out a plan for them post-high school completion. The individualized support plans could be implemented for all students or students who are actively seeking further education or job preparation programs. Individualized support plans could mimic an IEP with input from the individual on their goals for the future. To prepare these plans, a representative

from the high school and the college could meet with the student to develop this plan. Without proper planning, individuals with IDs can be less successful after completing high school and moving on to higher education or paid employment.

The third implication for practice is advocacy for inclusive policies. When discussing programs for individuals with IDs, most people have no idea that there are programs in higher education for this population. Prior research demonstrates that the values, philosophies, and attitudes of faculty members impact the overall climate of the university (Rao, 2004) with faculty members' perceptions either facilitating or deterring overall success (de A Moreira et al., 2000). While visiting and observing the college campus, the only faculty I saw interacting with the participants were the instructors in the C.A. program. This program is housed within the continuing education building; therefore, other faculty members could support and partner with the C.A. program. With more support and information being shared about the program, greater advocacy could be achieved. Though educators, parents, higher education institutes, and individuals with IDs can talk about their experiences and all they have gained, there needs to be more. Real change needs to come with the advocacy of more inclusive policies. Advocating for more inclusive policies opens the door for the creation and sustainment of programs like C.A.

Theoretical and Empirical Implications

The theoretical implications are centered around the social model of disability and social constructivism. Applying the social model of disability, this study aims to provide more insight into societal structures and environmental factors that contribute to the experiences of individuals with IDs in inclusive college programs. The theoretical implication of the social model of disability shifts the focus from viewing disabilities as just an individual medical condition to understanding that the implications of the disability can be better or worse due to societal

barriers or support (Oliver, 1986). Using the social constructivism theory, this study explored how social interactions of individuals with IDs and the neurotypical peers and faculty influence the learning experiences in inclusive PSE programs (Vygotsky, 1978). These theoretical implications emphasize the role of social interactions in shaping individual learning and development among individuals with IDs. This study has the potential to contribute and expand upon existing theories by explaining how inclusive college programs have evolved over the years to better accommodate individuals with IDs. By keeping this information up to date and expanding upon the existing theories, this study helps to redefine societal norms in PSE and can better serve this underrepresented population in higher education.

Empirical implications include literature review findings, themes, phenomenological descriptions, and supporting existing literature. Literature has been found on PSE programs in the United States (Gilson et al., 2020; Kim & Kutscher, 2020; Lee et al., 2021; Rumi et al., 2021) and employment statistics of individuals with disabilities (Moore & Schelling, 2015; Park & Park, 2021; Sannicandro et al., 2018; U.S. Department of Labor, 2020). Literature was also found on the effects that PSE has on the individuals, peers, and faculty who work in the inclusive programs (Carter et al., 2019; Nota et al., 2010; Ryan et al., 2019; Watts et al., 2023). Literature on employment perspectives from individuals with disabilities was also examined (Bonaccio et al., 2019; Gilson et al., 2022; Hemphill & Kulik, 2016; Wehman et al., 2018). The literature review conducted as part of this study identified gaps in the understanding of the lived experiences of individuals with IDs in an inclusive PSE program. Working to fill these gaps, the empirical significance of the study provides new information and insights into the literature. The themes and phenomenological descriptions found through this study have empirical significance by offering concrete, firsthand accounts of the lived experiences of individuals with IDs

participating in an inclusive college program. Through the existing literature, it was found that students with IDs value higher education as a positive experience because it provided them with a normalized context that they wished to continue (Weldon & Riddell, 2007). The university experience is seen by students with IDs as an opportunity that strengthens them personally in the face of difficulties derived from their disability (Moriña, 2017). Overall, this study contributes to the empirical significance of the literature by supporting existing findings on the effects of inclusive higher education on individuals with IDs, their neurotypical peers, and faculty. By providing additional empirical evidence, this study strengthens the existing body of literature on this topic area.

Limitations and Delimitations

Limitations for this study included the sample size, geographical location, program specificity, and timeframe. The study was limited to 10 participants enrolled in the C.A. program at P.C.C. This small sample size limits the generalizability of the findings to a broader population of individuals with IDs in inclusive higher education programs. This study takes place in a specific rural area in North Carolina. Findings may not be generalizable to individuals with IDs in other locations with different socio-cultural contexts. This study focuses specifically on the experience of individuals with IDs enrolled in the C.A. program. Findings may not apply to individuals in other PSE programs for individuals with IDs or in different types of educational settings. There was no mention of a time frame for data collection within the study. The limited time for data collection could restrict the depth or breadth of the study.

Delimitations include the setting, participant characteristics, program focus, and research design. The study is delimited to a specific community college in a rural area of North Carolina where the C.A. program is located. The findings are limited to the experiences of individuals

with IDs in this specific setting. This study includes college-aged students from 18-50 years old with a diagnosed ID. Some participants have disclosed their specific ID, and some have not. The findings are delimited to this specific demographic group. The study focuses on the lived experiences of individuals with an ID enrolled in the C.A. program at P.C.C., specifically their experiences in inclusive PSE programs with a focus on career and technical training. Findings are delimited to the experiences within this program context. The study utilizes a transcendental phenomenological research design. The findings are delimited to the understanding and description of the universal essence of the phenomenon among the participants within the chosen research design.

Recommendations for Future Research

Future research should focus on collaboration with stakeholders, such as educators, policymakers, and advocacy groups, to find actionable strategies for improving the inclusivity and effectiveness of higher education programs for individuals with IDs. More research is also needed to develop inclusive educational policies and practices that better support the individuals with IDs, the faculty who support them, and the college. A comparison study could be completed that looks at individuals with different types of disabilities not just IDs and identifies common challenges and effective support strategies among the participants with disabilities. Further research could also have different time frames. This would provide a deeper understanding of the educational and career trajectories of participants with IDs. Following a group of participants from start to finish in the C.A. program may give a different outcome than what was found in this study due to the time constraints for dissertation completion. Other studies could be conducted that use surveys, interviews, and observational data to triangulate findings and enhance the validity of the research. Further research could be expanded to include other

community colleges and universities that have programs with individuals with IDs. This would help researchers understand how program structures and curriculum impact the experiences and outcomes of individuals with IDs.

Conclusion

This research study examined the lived experiences of individuals with IDs enrolled in the C.A. program at P.C.C. Utilizing a transcendental phenomenological research design, the study explored the inclusive PSE setting that focuses on career and technical training for individuals with IDs. The study followed 10 participants from ages 18-50 years with a diagnosed ID who are enrolled in the C.A. program. The participants shared their experiences through interviews, journal prompts, and focus groups. Findings from the study included five overarching themes: educational and career aspirations, the concept of inclusion, inclusivity and social engagement, campus engagement and support networks, and a sense of belonging. Two subthemes emerged from the data: career and professional development and real-world application and practice. This study had limitations that included the sample size, geographical location, program specificity, and timeframe. The delimitations of the study included setting, participant characteristics, program focus, and research design. Despite the study's limitations and delimitations, the research offers valuable insight into the lived experiences of individuals with IDs in an inclusive PSE program. By recognizing these things and providing recommendations for further research, the study contributes to an ongoing effort to enhance the inclusivity, effectiveness, and creation of higher education programs for individuals with IDs.

References

- American Association on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities. (2022). *Defining criteria* for intellectual disability. https://www.aaidd.org/intellectual-disability/definition
- About Education. (2016). Hidden curriculum. Retrieved from https://www.thoughtco.com/hidden-curriculum-3026346
- Abidi, J., & Sharma, D. (2014). Poverty, disability, and employment: Global perspectives from the National Centre for Promotion of Employment for Disabled People. *Career Development and Transition for Exceptional Individuals*, *37*, 60–68. https://doi.org/10.1177/2165143413520180
- Agran, M., Jackson, L., Kurth, J. A., Ryndak, D., Burnette, K., Jameson, M., Zagona, A., Fitzpatrick, H., & Wehmeyer, M. (2020). Why aren't students with severe disabilities being placed in general education classrooms: Examining the relations among classroom placement, learner outcomes, and other factors. Research & Practice for Persons With Severe Disabilities, 45(1), 4–13. https://doi.org/10.1177/1540796919878134
- Akpan, V. I., Igwe, U. A., Mpamah, I. B. J., & Okoro, C. O. (2020). Social constructivism: Implications on teaching and learning. *British Journal of Education*, 8(8), 49–56. https://www.eajournals.org/wp-content/uploads/Social-Constructivism.pdf
- Alhaznawi, A. A., & Alanazi, A. S. (2021). Higher education faculty staff members' attitudes toward students' inclusion with high incidence disabilities in Saudi Arabia. *World Journal of Education*, 11(1), 51–61. https://doi.org/10.5430/wje.v11n1p51ht
- Al-Hendawi, M., Thoma, C. A., Habeeb, H., & Khair, M. S. (2022). Emerging themes on factors influencing career and employment decisions: Voices of individuals with disabilities

- from four gulf countries. *Social Sciences (Basel)*, 11(8), 371. https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci11080371
- Almalky, H. (2020). Employment outcomes for individuals with intellectual and developmental disabilities: A literature review. *Child Youth Services Review*, 109, Article 104656. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.104656
- Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq. (1990). https://www.ada.gov/pubs/adastatute08.htm
- Athamanah, L. S., Fisher, M. H., Sung, C., & Han, J. E. (2020). The experiences and perceptions of college peer mentors interacting with students with intellectual and developmental disabilities. *Research and Practice for Persons with Severe Disabilities*, 45(4), 271-287. https://doi.org/10.1177/1540796920953826
- Baer, R. M., Flexer, R. W., Beck, S., Amstutz, N., Hoffman, L., & Brothers, J. (2003). A collaborative followup study on transition service utilization and post-school outcomes.
 Career Development for Exceptional Individuals, 26(1), 7–25.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/088572880302600102
- Baker, J. N., Lowrey, K. A., & Wennerlind, K. R. (2018). Building an inclusive post-secondary education program for young adults with intellectual developmental disability. *Physical Disabilities: Education and Related Services*, *37*(2), 13–33. https://doi.org/10.14434/pders.v37i2.25738
- Barnard-Brak, L., Richman, D. M., Mutua, K., & Williamson, A. (2023). Predictors of employment for adults with intellectual and developmental disabilities participating in a postsecondary transition program in the United States. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 36(1), 116–121. https://doi.org/10.1111/jar.13040

- Baum, S., Ma, J., & Payea, K. (2010). Education pays 2010: The benefits of higher education for individual and society. New York, NY: College Board.
- Bellacicco, R., & Pavone, M. (2020). After higher education: Exploring the transition to employment for graduates with disabilities. *Alter*, *14*(3), 159–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.alter.2020.03.002
- Bellamy, C., Schmutte, T., & Davidson, L. (2017). An update on the growing evidence base for peer support. *Mental Health and Social Inclusion*, 21(3), 161–167. https://doi.org/10.1108/MHSI-03-2017-0014
- Bendick, M., & Nunes, A. (2012). Developing the research basis for controlling bias in hiring.

 *Journal of Social Issues, 68, 238–262. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-4560.2012.01747.x
- Berg, L. A., Jirikowic, T., Haertling, K., & MacDonald, G. (2017). Navigating the hidden curriculum of higher education for postsecondary students with intellectual disabilities.

 The American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 71(3), 1–9.

 https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2017.024703
- Beyer, S., Meek, A., & Davies, A. (2016). Supported work experience and its impact on young people with intellectual disabilities, their families, and employers. *Advances in Mental Health and Intellectual Disabilities*, 10, 207–220. https://doi.org/10.1108/AMHID-05-2014-0015
- Biggeri, M., Di Masi, D., & Bellacicco, R. (2020). Disability and higher education: Assessing students' capabilities in two Italian universities using structured focus group discussions.

 Studies in Higher Education (Dorchester-on-Thames), 45(4), 909–924.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2019.1654448

- Biggs, E. E., & Carter, E. W. (2017). Supporting the social lives of students with intellectual disability. In M. L. Wehmeyer & K. A. Shogren (Eds.), *Handbook of research-based practices for educating students with intellectual disability* (pp. 235–254). Routledge.
- Blacklock, B., Benson, B., & Johnson, D. (2003). Needs assessment project: Exploring barriers and opportunities for college students with psychiatric disabilities [Unpublished manuscript]. University of Minnesota.
- Blackman, S. (2016). Barbadian students' attitudes towards including peers with disabilities in regular education. *International Journal of Special Education*, 31(1),135–143. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/313933799
- Blackorby, J., & Wagner, M. (1996). Longitudinal postschool outcomes of youth with disabilities: Findings from the national longitudinal transition study. *Exceptional Children*, 62(5), 399–413. https://doi.org/10.1177/001440299606200502
- Blumberg, R., Carroll, S., & Petroff, J. (2008). Career and community studies: An inclusive liberal arts programme for youth with intellectual disabilities. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 12(5), 621–637. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603110802377672
- Bonaccio, S., Connelly, C. E., Gellatly, I. R., Jetha, A., & Martin Ginis, K. A. (2019). The participation of people with disabilities in the workplace across the employment cycle: Employer concerns and research evidence. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, *35*(2), 135–158. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-018-9602-5
- Brady, M. P. (2021). Are we there yet? An emerging research agenda for college students with intellectual and developmental disabilities. *Behavior Modification*, *45*(2), 203–214. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145445520986141

- Brewer, R., & Movahedazarhouligh, S. (2021). Students with intellectual and developmental disabilities in inclusive higher education: Perceptions of stakeholders in a first-year experience. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 25(9), 993–1009. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2019.1597184
- Brown, H. K., Ouellette-Kuntz, H., Lysaght, R., & Burge, P. (2011). Students' behavioural intentions towards peers with disability. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 24(4), 322–332. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-3148.2010.00616.x
- Bush, K. L., & Tassé, M. J. (2017). Employment and choice-making for adults with intellectual disability, autism, and Down syndrome. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 65, 23–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2017.04.004
- Busby, M. (2019). *Tory candidate defends low pay for people with learning disabilities*. The Guardian. Retrieved December 6, 2019, from https://www.theguardian.com/politics/2019/dec/06/tory-candidate-sally-ann-hart-defends-low-pay-people-learning-disabilities.
- Butcher, S., &Wilton, R. (2008). Stuck in transition? Exploring the spaces of employment training for youth with intellectual disability. *Geoforum*, *39*(2),1079–1092. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2007.11.002
- Butler, L., Sheppard-Jones, K., Whaley, B., Harrison, B., & Osness, M. (2016). Does participation in higher education make a difference in life outcomes for students with intellectual disability? *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 44(3), 295–298. https://doi.org/10.3233/JVR-160804
- Campanile, J., Cerilli, C., Varadaraj, V., Sweeney, F., Smith, J., Zhu, J., Yenokyan, G., & Swenor, B. K. (2022). Accessibility and disability inclusion among top-funded U.S.

- undergraduate institutions. *PLoS ONE*, *17*(11), Article e0277249. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0277249
- Carballo, R., Morgado, B., & Cortés-Vega, M. D. (2021). Transforming faculty conceptions of disability and inclusive education through a training programme. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 25(7), 843–859. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2019.1579874
- Carnevale, A. P., Rose, S. J., & Cheah, B. (2011). *The college payoff: Education, occupations, lifetime earnings*. Georgetown University Center on Education and the Workforce.
- Carothers, D., Aydin, H., & Halpern, C. (2021). Campus attitudes toward academic and social inclusion of students with intellectual disability. *Journal of Curriculum Studies Research*, 3(2), 122–147. https://doi.org/10.46303/jcsr.2021.2
- Carter, W. E., Austin, D., &Trainor, A. A. (2012). Predictors of postschool employment outcomes for young adults with severe disabilities. *Journal of Disability Policy Studies*, 23(1), 50–63. https://doi.org/10.1177/1044207311414680
- Carter, E. W., Gustafson, J. R., Mackay, M. M., Martin, K. P., Parsley, M. V., Graves, J., Day, T. L., McCabe, L. E., Lazarz, H., McMillan, E. D., Schiro-Geist, C., Williams, M., Beeson, T., & Cayton, J. (2019). Motivations and expectations of peer mentors within inclusive higher education programs for students with intellectual disability. *Career Development and Transition for Exceptional Individuals*, 42(3), 168–178.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/2165143418779989.
- Cavendish, W., Morris, C. T., Chapman, L. A., Ocasio-Stoutenburg, L., & Kibler, K. (2020).

 Teacher perceptions of implementation practices to support secondary students inspecial education. *Preventing School Failure*, 64(1), 19
 27. https://doi.org/10.1080/1045988X.2019.1628000

- Chatzitheochari, S., & Platt, L. (2019). Disability differentials in educational attainment in England: Primary and secondary effects. *The British Journal of Sociology*, 70(2), 502–525. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-4446.12372
- Chickering, A. W., & Reisser, L. (1993). Education and identity (2nd ed.). Jossey-Bass.
- Clark, D. (2022, December 7). *Number of employees worldwide from 1991 to 2022*. Statista. https://www.statista.com/statistics/1258612/global-employment-figures/
- Cohen, D., & Crabtree, B. (2006). Qualitative research guidelines project. http://www.qualres.org/HomeSemi-3629.html
- Collins, A., Azmat, F., & Rentschler, R. (2019). 'Bringing everyone on the same journey':

 Revisiting inclusion in higher education. *Studies in Higher Education*, 44(8), 1475-1487.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2018.1450852
- Coriale, L., Larson, G., & Robertson, J. (2012). Exploring the educational experience of a social work student with a disability: A narrative. *Social Work Education*, *31*(4), 422–434. https://doi.org/10.1080/02615479.2011.564611
- Cortiella, C., & Horowitz, S. H. (2014). *The state of learning disabilities: Facts, trends and emerging issues* (3rd ed.). National Center for Learning Disabilities.

 https://www.myschoolpsychology.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/02/2014-State-of-LD.pdf
- Cranston-Gingras, A., Davis, D., Gonzalez, G., Knollman, G., Thomas, D., & Wissner, A. (2015). Going to college: A campus-based partnership for students with intellectual disabilities. *School-University Partnerships*, 8(2), 62–71. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1085184.pdf

- Cress, C. (2008). Creating inclusive learning communities: The role of student-faculty relationships in mitigating negative campus climate. *Learning Inquiry*, *2*, 95–111. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11519-008-0028-2
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2018). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches (4th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Darcy, S., Taylor, T., & Green, J. (2016). 'But I can do the job': Examining disability employment practice through human rights complaint cases. *Disability and Society*, 31(9), 1242–1274. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2016.1256807
- Dare, L., Nowicki, E., & Felimban, H. (2017). Saudi children's thoughts on inclusive education.

 International Journal of Inclusive Education, 21(5), 532–543.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2016.1218948
- de A Moreira, L. M., San Juan, A., Pereira, P. S., & de Souza, C. S. (2000). A case of mosaic trisomy 21 with Down syndrome signs and normal intellectual development. *Journal of Intellectual Disability and Research*, 44, 91–96. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2788.2000.00246.x
- De Boer, A., Pijl, S. J., & Minnaert, A. (2011). Regular primary schoolteachers' attitudes towards inclusive education: A review of the literature. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 15(3), 331–353. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603110903030089
- Dell'Anna, S., Pellegrini, M., & Ianes, D. (2021). Experiences and learning outcomes of students without special educational needs in inclusive settings: A systematic review.
 International Journal of Inclusive Education, 25(8), 944–959.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2019.1592248

- De Neve, J.-E., & Ward, G. (2017, March 20). *Does work make you happy? Evidence from the world happiness report*. Harvard Business Review. https://hbr.org/2017/03/does-work-make-you-happy-evidence-from-the-world-happiness-report
- Department of Public Health & Human Services of Montana. (2022). *Vocational rehabilitation history*. https://dphhs.mt.gov/assets/detd/SRCouncil/VRHistory.pdf
- Deshler, D., Ellis, E. S., & Lenz, N. K. (1996). *Teaching adolescents with mild disabilities*. Love Publishing Company.
- Domzal, C., Houtenville, A., & Sharma, R. (2008). Survey of employer perspectives on the employment of people with disabilities: Technical report. (Prepared under contract to the Office of Disability Employment Policy, U.S. Department of Labor). CESSI. https://www.dol.gov/sites/dolgov/files/odep/research/surveyemployerperspectivesemploy mentpeopledisabilities.pdf
- Dow, M. J., Long, B. S., & Lund, B. D. (2021). Reference and instructional services to postsecondary education students with intellectual disabilities. *College & Research Libraries*, 82(7), 1017–1034. https://doi.org/10.5860/crl.82.7.1017
- Dukes, S. (1984). Phenomenological methodology in the human sciences. *Journal of Religion* and Health, 23, 197–203. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00990785
- Duncanson, L.S., Niles-Campbell, M., McDougall, N., Diederichs, C.,& Menna-Dack, D. (2017). Applying an ecological framework to understand transition pathways to post-secondary education for youth with disabilities. Disability & Rehabilitation, 40, 277–286. doi:10.1080/09638288.2016.1250171
- Edwards, L.V. (2006). Perceived social support and HIV/AIDS medication adherence among African American women. *Qualitative Health Research*, 16(5), 679–691.

- https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732305281597
- Ehlinger, E., & Ropers, R. (2020). "It's all about learning as a community": Facilitating the learning of students with disabilities in higher education classrooms. *Journal of College Student Development*, 61(3), 333–349. https://doi.org/10.1353/csd.2020.0031
- Engelbrecht P., Oswald, M., Swart, E., & Eloff, I. (2003). Including learners with intellectual disabilities: Stressful for teachers? *International Journal of Disability, Development and Education*, 50(3), 293–308. https://doi.org/10.1080/1034912032000120462
- Falvey, M. A., & Givner, C. C. (2005). What is an inclusive school? In R. A. Villa & J. S. Thousand (Eds.), Creating an inclusive school (2nd ed., pp. 1–11). Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Flaherty, M., & Roussy, A. (2014). A failed game changer: Post-secondary education and the Accessibility for Ontarians With Disabilities Act. *Education and Law Journal*, 24(1)1–24.
- Forlin, C. (2010). Reframing teacher education for inclusion. In C. Forlin (Ed.), *Teacher education for inclusion: Changing paradigms and innovative approaches* (pp. 3–12). Routledge.
- Francis, G. L., Gordon, S., Kliethermes, A. J., Regester, A., Baldini, D., & Grant, A. (2018).

 Developing and implementing a postsecondary education program for young adults with intellectual disabilities: Processes and procedures. *Teacher Educators' Journal*, 11, 134–156. http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1174734.pdf
- Francis, G. L., Reed, A. S., & Howard, M. E. (2020). Interactions with and between families and professionals in college: Perspectives of young adults with intellectual and developmental disabilities. *Inclusion*, 8(2), 163–179. https://doi.org/10.1352/2326-6988-8.2.163

- Fuster, D. (2019). Qualitative research: Hermeneutical phenomenological method. *Propósitos y Representaciones*, 7(1), 201–229. http://doi.org/10.20511/pyr2019.v7n1.267
- Garrison-Wade, D. F. (2012). Listening to their voices: Factors that inhibit or enhance postsecondary outcomes for students with disabilities. *International Journal of Special Education*, 27(2), 113–125. http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ982866.pdf
- Geertz, C. (2008). Thick description: Toward an interpretive theory of culture. In C. Geertz *The cultural geography reader* (pp. 41–51). Routledge. (Original work published 1973)
- Georgiadi, M., Kalyva, E., Kourkoutas, E., & Tsakiris, V. (2012). Young children's attitudes toward peers with intellectual disabilities: Effect of the type of school. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 25(6), 531–541. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-3148.2012.00699.x
- Gibbons, M., Cihak, F., Mynatt, B., & Wilhoit, E. (2015). Faculty and student attitudes toward postsecondary education for students with intellectual disabilities and autism. *Journal of Postsecondary Education and Disability*, 28(2), 149–162. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1074661.pdf
- Gibson, S. (2015). When rights are not enough: What is? Moving towards new pedagogy for inclusive education within UK universities. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 19(8), 875–886. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2015.1015177
- Gilson, C. B., Gushanas, C. M., Li, Y.-F., & Foster, K. (2020). Defining inclusion: Faculty and student attitudes regarding postsecondary education for students with intellectual and developmental disabilities. *Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, *58*(1), 65–81. https://doi.org/10.1352/1934-9556-58.1.65

- Gilson, C. B., Sinclair, J., Whirley, M. L., Li, Y.-F., & Blustein, D. L. (2022). "More than a job, it's a purpose": A psychology of working perspective of the working experiences for individuals with intellectual and developmental disabilities. *Journal of Career Assessment*, 30(2), 367–386. https://doi.org/10.1177/10690727211048898
- Goering, S. (2015). Rethinking disability: The social model of disability and chronic disease.

 *Current Reviews in Musculoskeletal Medicine, 8(2), 134–138.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s12178-015-9273-z
- Griffin, M. M., McMillian, E. D., & Hodapp, R. M. (2010). Family perspectives on post-secondary education for students with intellectual disabilities. *Education and Training in Autism and Developmental Disabilities*, 45(3), 339–346.

 http://www.jstor.org/stable/23880108
- Griffin, M. M., Wendel, K., Day, T., & McMillan, E. (2016). Developing peer supports for college students with intellectual and developmental disabilities. *Journal of Postsecondary Education and Disability*, 29(3), 263–269.

 http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1123801.pdf
- Grigal, M., Hart, D., & Lewis, S. (2012). A prelude to progress: The evolution of post-secondary education for students with intellectual disabilities. *Think College Insight Brief*, 12. https://www.academia.edu/download/35659999/Insight 12 web F.pdf
- Grigal, M., Hart, D., Papay, C., Wu, X., Lazo, R., Smith, F., & Domin, D. (2021). Executive summary of the annual report of the Cohort 2 TPSID model demonstration projects (year five, 2019–2020). *Think College Fast Facts*, *30*. University of Massachusetts Boston, Institute for Community Inclusion. https://scholarworks.umb.edu/ici_pubs/149/
- Grigal, M., Migliore, A., & Hart, D. (2011). Comparing the transition planning, postsecondary

- education, and employment outcomes of students with intellectual and other disabilities.

 Career Development for Exceptional Individuals, 34(1), 4–17.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0885728811399091
- Grigal, M., Migliore, A., & Hart, D. (2014). A state comparison of vocational rehabilitation support of youth with intellectual disabilities' participation in postsecondary education.

 Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation, 40(3), 185–194. https://doi.org/10.3233/JVR-140683
- Guist, A. M., & Valle-Riestra, D. M. (2017). Supporting mentors working with students with intellectual disabilities in higher education. *Journal of Intellectual Disabilities*, 21(2), 144–157. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744629516651019
- Hall, E. (2010). Spaces of social inclusion and belonging for people with intellectual disabilities.

 Journal of Intellectual Disability Research, 54(s1), 48–57. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2788.2009.01237.x
- Harrison, A. J., Bisson, J. B., & Laws, C. B. (2019). Impact of an inclusive postsecondary education program on implicit and explicit attitudes toward intellectual disability. *Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, *57*(4), 323-336. https://doi.org/10.1352/1934-9556-57.4.323
- Hart, D., Grigal, M., & Weir, C. (2010). Expanding the paradigm: Postsecondary education options for individuals with autism spectrum disorder and intellectual disabilities. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, 25(3), 134–150.
 http://doi.org/10.1177/1088357610373759

- Hemphill, E., & Kulik, C. T. (2016). Which employers offer hope for mainstream job opportunities for disabled people? *Social Policy and Society*, *15*(4), 537–554. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1474746415000457
- Hennessey, R. E., & Goreczny, A. J. (2022). Employment preferences of individuals with intellectual and developmental disabilities: An evaluation of gender and age differences.

 Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities, 35(3), 878–888.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/jar.12992
- Hensel, E., Stenfert, K. B., & Rose, J. (2007). Psychological factors associated with obtaining employment. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, *20*, 175–181. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-3148.2006.00321.x
- Heslop, P., Mallett, R., Simons, K., & Ward, L. (2002). Bridging the divide at transition: What happens for young people with learning difficulties and their families? British Institute for Learning Disabilities.
- Hiersteiner, D., Butterworth, J., Bershadsky, J., & Bonardi, A. (2018). Working in the community: The status and outcomes of people with intellectual and developmental disabilities in integrated employment—Update 3. NCI Data Brief, April. 2016. Human Services Research Institute. https://www.nationalcoreindicators.org/upload/coreindicators/NCIEmployment Update3 DataBrief.pdf
- Hole, R., Corbett, J., Cook, S., & de Raaf, S. (2015). *Mapping inclusive employment practices*for individuals with developmental disabilities: A participatory research mapping

 project. The BC Centre for Employment Excellence.

 https://cic.arts.ubc.ca/files/2015/10/MEIE-Final-Report-201509301.pdf

- Hopkins, L. (2011). The path of least resistance: A voice-relational analysis of disabled students' experiences of discrimination in English universities. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 15(7), 711–727. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603110903317684
- Houtenville, A., Bach, S., & Paul, S. (2023). *Annual report on people with disabilities in America: 2023*. University of New Hampshire, Institute on Disability. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED628657.pdf
- Hsu, T.-H., Kuo, C.-N, Fried, J. H., Chao, P.-J., & Huang, Y.-T. (2020). Exploring the practices of inclusive instruction and perceptions toward disability among Vietnamese university faculty members. *Journal of Rehabilitation*, 86(1), 41–53.

 https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/exploring-practices-inclusive-instruction/docview/2777076095/se-2
- Individuals With Disabilities Act. (2022, November 1). *A history of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act.* https://sites.ed.gov/idea/IDEA-History#Pre-EHA-IDEA
- Individuals With Disabilities Education Improvement Act of 2004, Pub. L. 108–446, 20 U.S.C. §§ 1400 et seq. (2004). https://www.congress.gov/108/plaws/publ446/PLAW-108publ446.pdf
- Iwanaga, K., Wu, J. R., Chan, F., Rumrill, P., Wehman, P., Brooke, V. A., Avellone, L., & Taylor, J. (2021). A systematic review of systematic reviews of secondary health conditions, health promotion, and employment of people with intellectual disabilities.
 The Australian Journal of Rehabilitation Counselling, 27(1), 1–28.
 https://doi.org/10.1017/jrc.2021.2

- Izzo, M. V., & Shuman, A. (2013). Impact of inclusive college programs serving students with intellectual disabilities on disability studies interns and typically enrolled students.
 Journal of Postsecondary Education and Disability, 26(4), 321-335.
- Jack, A. A. (2016). (No) harm in asking: Class, acquired cultural capital, and academic engagement at an elite university. Sociology of Education, 89(1), 1–19.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0038040715614913
- Jahoda, A., Kemp, J., Riddell, S., & Banks, P. (2008). Feelings about work: A review of the socio-emotional impact of supported employment on people with intellectual disabilities.
 Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities, 21(1), 1–18.
 https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2007-19472-001
- Johnson, S. (2024). *College search annual update: Here's what's new*. Think College. https://thinkcollege.net/think-college-news/college-search-annual-update-heres-whats-new
- Joseph, B., Kearney, K. B., & Wilson, C. L. (2019). The role of educational leaders: A case for inclusion in institutions of higher education. *Journal of Cases in Educational Leadership*, 22(3), 3–15. https://doi.org/10.1177/1555458919847245
- Ju, S., Zeng, W., & Landmark, L. J. (2017). Self-determination and academic success of students with disabilities in postsecondary education: A review. *Journal of Disability Policy Studies*, 28(3), 180–189. https://doi.org/10.1177/1044207317739402
- Katz, J., Porath, M., Bendu, C., & Epp, B. (2012). Diverse voices: Middle years students' insights into life in inclusive classrooms. *Exceptionality Education International*, 22(1), 2–16. http://doi.org/10.5206/eei.v22i1.7685

- Kaya, C., Blake, J., & Chan, F. (2015). Peer-mediated interventions with elementary and secondary school students with emotional and behavioural disorders: A literature review. *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, 15(2), 120–129. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-3802.12029
- Kern, L., Harrison, J., Custer, B., & Mehta, P. D. (2018). Factors that enhance the quality of relationships between mentors and mentees during check and connect. *Behavioral Disorders*, 44(3),148–161. https://doi.org/10.1177/0198742918779791
- Kim, H. J., Gu, Y. J., Go, J. H., Min, J. Y., Kang, H. S., Yoo, Y. S., & Kim, Y. Y. (2017). 2016

 panel survey of employment for the disabled (The first survey in second wave). Sungnam:

 Employment Development Institute.
- Kim, M. M., & Kutscher, E. L. (2020). College students with disabilities: Factors influencing growth in academic ability and confidence. *Research in Higher Education*, 62(3), 309–331. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-020-09595-8
- Koster, M., Nakken, H., Pijl, S. J., & van Houten, E. (2009). Being part of the peer group: A literature study focusing on the social dimension of inclusion in education. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, *13*(2), 117–140. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603110701284680
- Kovač, V. B. (2015). Transition: A conceptual analysis and integrative model. In D. L. Cameron & R. Thygesen (Eds.), *Transitions in the field of special education: Theoretical perspectives and implications for practice* (pp. 19–33). Waxmann.
- Kowalsky, R., & Fresko, B. (2002). Peer tutoring for college students with disabilities. *Higher Education Research & Development*, 21(3), 259–271. https://doi.org/10.1080/0729436022000020760

- Krueger, R.A. and Casey, M.A. (2015). Focus Group Interviewing. In Handbook of Practical Program Evaluation (eds K.E. Newcomer, H.P. Hatry and J.S.Wholey). https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119171386.ch20
- Landsman, G. (2005). Mothers and models of disability. *Journal of Medical Humanities*, 26, 121–139. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10912-005-2914-2
- Lawson, D. L., Gould, S. A., & Conley, M. L. (2016). McDaniel step ahead: A summer transitional program for first year college students with disabilities. *Journal of Postsecondary Education and Disability*, 29(3), 299–302. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1123805.pdf
- Lee, C. E., Day, T. L., Carter, E. W., & Taylor, J. L. (2021). Examining growth among college students with intellectual and developmental disability: A longitudinal study. *Behavior Modification*, 45(2), 324–348. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145445520982968
- Lincoln, Y., & Guba, E. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Sage.
- Lombardi, A., Murray, C., Dallas, B. (2013). University faculty attitudes toward disability and inclusive instruction: Comparing two institutions. Journal of Postsecondary Education and Disability. 26. 221-232.
- Lombardi, A., Rifenbark, G. G., Hicks, T., Taconet, A., & Challenger, C. (2022). College and career readiness support for youth with and without disabilities based on the national longitudinal transition study 2012. *Exceptional Children*, 89(1), 5–22. https://doi.org/10.1177/00144029221088940
- Lombardi, A., Vukovic, B., & Sala-Bars, I. (2015). International comparisons of inclusive instruction among college faculty in Spain, Canada, and the United States. *Journal of Postsecondary Education and Disability*, 28(4), 447–460.

- https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1093535.pdf
- Lynch, M. (2016, November 19). *Social constructivism in education*. The Edvocate. https://www.theedadvocate.org/social-constructivism-in-education/
- Malinovskiy, S., Shibanova, E., & Movkebayeva, Z. (2023). Barriers and facilitators of access to higher education in a weakly institutionalized context: Perceptions of disabled students.

 Disability & Society, 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2023.2203310
- Manago, B., Davis, J. L., & Goar, C. (2017). Discourse in action: Parents' use of medical and social models to resist disability stigma. *Social Science & Medicine*, *184*, 169–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.05.015
- Mank, D., Cioffi, A., & Yovanoff, P. (2000). Direct support in supported employment and its relation to job typicalness, coworker involvement, and employment outcomes. *Mental Retardation*, 38(6), 506–516. https://doi.org/10.1352/0047-6765
- Mankey, T. (2012). Educators' perceived role of occupational therapy in secondary transition.

 Journal of Occupational Therapy, Schools, and Early Intervention, 5(2), 105–113.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/19411243.2012.701974
- Matthews, N. (2009). Teaching the 'invisible' disabled students in the classroom: Disclosure, inclusion, and the social model of disability. *Teaching in Higher Education*, *14*(3), 229–239. https://doi.org/10.1080/13562510902898809
- McCarty, C., Lubbers, M. J., Vacca, R., & Molina, J. L. (2019). *Conducting personal network research. A practical guide*. The Guilford Press.
- Mertens, D. M. (2015). Research and evaluation in education and psychology: Integrating diversity with quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods (4th ed.). Sage.
- Mishkind, A. (2014). Overview: Definitions of college and career readiness. College and Career

- Readiness and Success Center, American Institutes for Research.

 https://ccrscenter.org/products-resources/overview-state-definitions-college-and-career-readiness
- Monahan, J. L., Lombardi, A., Madaus, J., Carlson, S. R., Freeman, J., & Gelbar, N. (2020). A systematic literature review of college and career readiness frameworks for students with disabilities. *Journal of Disability Policy Studies*, *31*(3), 131–140. https://doi.org/10.1177/1044207320906816
- Moore, E. J., & Schelling, A. (2015). Postsecondary inclusion for individuals with an intellectual disability and its effects on employment. *Journal of Intellectual Disabilities*, 19(2), 130–148. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744629514564448
- Morgan, H., & Houghton, A.-M. (2011). *Inclusive curriculum design in higher education:*considerations for effective practice across and within subject areas. The Higher Education Academy.
- Moriña, A. (2017). Inclusive education in higher education: Challenges and opportunities.

 *European Journal of Special Needs Education, 32(1), 3–17.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/08856257.2016.1254964
- Mullins, L., & Preyde, M. (2013). The lived experience of students with an invisible disability at a Canadian university. *Disability and Society*, 28(2), 147–160. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2012.752127
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2018). *Table 311.10. Number and percentage*distribution of students enrolled in postsecondary institutions, by level, disability status,
 and selected student characteristics: 2015–16 [Data table].

 https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d20/tables/dt20_311.10.asp

- National Center for Education Statistics. (2021). Table 219.67. High school completion rate of

 18-to 24-year-olds not enrolled in high school (status completion rate), number of 18-24year- olds not in high school, and number who are high school completers (status
 completers), selected characteristics: Selected years, 2009 through 2019 [Data table].

 https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d20/tables/dt20_219.67.asp?current=yes
- National Center for Education Statistics (NCES). (2022). *Table 105.50. Number of educational institutions, by level and control of institution: 2010–11 through 2020–21* [Data table]. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d22/tables/dt22_105.50.asp
- National Center for Education Statistics at Institute of Education Sciences. (2022, April 26). *A majority of college students with disabilities do not inform school, new NCES data show*[Press release]. https://nces.ed.gov/whatsnew/press_releases/4_26_2022.asp
- National Conference of State Legislatures. (2021). *Employment for people with disabilities*. https://www.ncsl.org/labor-and-employment/employment-for-people-with-disabilities
- National Council on Disability. (2003, September 15). *People with disabilities and postsecondary education—Position paper* [Executive summary].

 https://www.ncd.gov/report/people-with-disabilities-and-postsecondary-education-position-paper/
- National Council on Disability. (2017, October 26). Highlighting disability/poverty connection, NCD urges congress to alter federal policies that disadvantage people with disabilities [Press release]. https://www.ncd.gov/2017/10/26/highlighting-disability-poverty-connection-ncd-urges-congress-to-alter-federal-policies-that-disadvantage-people-with-disabilities/

- Newcomb, T. M. (1962). Student-peer group influence. In N. E. Sanford (Ed.), *The American college: A psychological and social interpretation of the higher learning* (pp. 469–488). John Wiley & Sons. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/11181-013
- Newman, L. (2005). Changes in postsecondary education participation of youth with disabilities.

 Journal for Vocational Special Needs Education, 27(2), 30–38.

 Winter05pubV27#2_FINAL.pmd (ed.gov)
- Newman, L., Wagner, M., Knokey, A.-M., Marder, C., Nagle, K., Shaver, D., & Wei, X. (with Cameto, R., Contrera, E., Ferguson, K., Greene, S., & Schwarting, M.). (2011). *The post-high school outcomes of young adults with disabilities up to 8 years after high school. A report from the National Longitudinal Transition Study-2 (NLTS2)* (NCSER 2011–3005). SRI International.
- North Carolina Council on Developmental Disabilities. (2022). *Education & transition programs*. https://nccdd.org/job-seeker-info/education-transition.html
- North Carolina Department of Commerce, Labor, and Economic Analysis Division. (2009).

 *Higher education leads to higher earnings for students with disabilities in North

 Carolina. https://www.commerce.nc.gov/blog/2019/10/08/higher-education-leads-higher-earnings-students-disabilities-north-carolina
- National Parent Center on Transition and Employment. (2022). *Inclusive postsecondary*education for students with intellectual disabilities.

 https://www.pacer.org/transition/learning-center/postsecondary/college-options.asp
- Nord, C., Roey, S., Perkins, R., Lyons, M., Lemanski, N., Brown, J., & Schuknecht, J. (2011). *The nation's report card: America's high school graduates* (NCES 2011–462). U.S.

 Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. U.S. Government

- Printing Office. https://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/pdf/
- Nota, L., Ginevra, M. C., & Carrieri, L. (2010). Career interests and self-efficacy beliefs among young adults with an intellectual disability. *Journal of Policy and Practice in Intellectual Disabilities*, 7(4), 250–260. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-1130.2010.00274.x
- O'Connor, B., Kubiak, J., Espiner, D. (2012). Lecturer responses to the inclusion of students with intellectual disabilities auditing undergraduate classes. *Journal of Policy and Practice in Intellectual Disabilities*, 9(4), 247–256. https://doi.org/10.1111/jppi.12009
- O'Connor, J., Jr. (2019). Setting a framework of inclusive support for students with disabilities.

 In J. R. O'Connor, Jr. (Ed.), *Cultivating inclusive practices in contemporary K-12*education (pp. 1–18). Information Science Reference. http://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-52255727-2.ch001
- Oliver, M. (1986). Social policy and disability: Some theoretical issues. *Disability, Handicap & Society*, *I*(1), 5–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/02674648666780021
- Oliver, M. (2013). The social model of disability: Thirty years on. *Disability & Society*, 28(7), 1024–1026. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2013.818773
- Oliver, M., & Barnes, C. (2010). Disability studies, disabled people, and the struggle for inclusion. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 31(5), 547–560. https://doi.org/10.1080/01425692.2010.500088
- Olsen, J., Griffiths, M., Soorenian, A., & Porter, R. (2020). Reporting from the margins:

 Disabled academics reflections on higher education. *Scandinavian Journal of Disability*Research, 22(1), 265–274. https://doi.org/10.16993/sjdr.670
- Padilla, R. (2003). Clara: A phenomenology of disability. *The American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 57(4), 413–423. https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.57.4.413

- Panos, R. J., & Astin, A. W. (1968). Attrition among college students. *American Educational Research Journal*, 5(1), 57–72. https://doi.org/10.3102/00028312005001057
- Papay, C., & Bambara, L. M. (2011). Postsecondary education for transition-age students with intellectual and other developmental disabilities: A national survey. *Education and Training in Autism and Developmental Disabilities*, 46(1), 78–93.
- Papay, C., & Griffin, M. (2013). Developing inclusive college opportunities for students with intellectual and developmental disabilities. *Research and Practice for Persons With Severe Disabilities*, 38(2), 110–116. https://doi.org/10.2511/027494813807714546
- Papay, C. K., Grigal, M., Hart, D., Kwan, N., & Smith, F. A. (2018). Predictors of inclusive course enrollments in higher education by students with intellectual and developmental disabilities. Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities, 56(6), 458–470. https://doi.org/10. 1352/1934-9556-56.6.458
- Park, J.-Y., & Park, E.-Y. (2021). Factors affecting the acquisition and retention of employment among individuals with intellectual disabilities. *International Journal of Developmental Disabilities*, 67(3), 188–201. https://doi.org/10.1080/20473869.2019.1633166
- Parmenter, T. R. (2011). Promoting training and employment opportunities for people with intellectual disabilities: International experience [Employment working paper no. 103]. Geneva, Switzerland: International Labour Office.
- Peregrina-Kretz, D., Seifert, T., Arnold, C., & Burrow, J. (2018). Finding their way in post-secondary education: The power of peers as connectors, coaches, co-constructors and copycats. *Higher Education Research and Development*, *37*(5), 1076–1090. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2018.1471050

- Perry, R. P., Hladkyj, S., Pekrun, R. H., & Pelletier, S. T. (2001). Academic control and action control in the achievement of college students: A longitudinal field study. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *93*(4), 776–789. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.93.4.776
- Pezalla, A. E., Pettigrew, J., & Miller-Day, M. (2012). Researching the researcher-as-instrument:

 An exercise in interviewer self-reflexivity. *Qualitative Research*, *12*(2),165–185.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794111422107
- Pinilla-Roncancio, M., & Alkire, S. (2017). How poor are people with disabilities around the globe? A multidimensional perspective. *OPHI Research in Progress Series 48a*. https://ophi.org.uk/sites/default/files/OPHIRP48a.pdf
- Plotner, A. J., & May, C. (2019). A comparison of the college experience for students with and without disabilities. *Journal of Intellectual Disabilities*, 23(1), 57–77. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744629517719346
- Polkinghorne, D. E. (1989). Phenomenological research methods. In R. S. Valle & S. Halling (Eds.), *Existential phenomenological perspectives in psychology* (pp. 41–60). Plenum Press.
- Pound, S., Grigal, M., Weir, C., & Roberts-Dahm, L.D. (2023). Exploring college for students with intellectual disability: Families make it happen! Think College Resource. Boston, MA: University of Massachusetts Boston, Institute for Community Inclusion
- Pritchard, A., & Woollard, J. (2010). Psychology for the classroom: Constructivism and social learning. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203855171
- Prohn, S. M., Kelley, K. R., & Westling, D. L. (2019). Supports' perspectives on the social experiences of college students with intellectual disability. *Inclusion*, 7(2), 111–124. https://doi.org/10.1352/2326-6988-7.2.111

- Prowse, S. (2009). Institutional construction of disabled students. *Journal of Higher Education Policy and Management, 31*(1), 89-96. https://doi.org/10.1080/13600800802559302
- Rao, S. (2004). Faculty attitudes and students with disabilities in higher education: A literature review. *College Student Journal*, *38*(2), 191–199. https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2004-16679-004
- Raue, K., & Lewis, L. (2011). Students with disabilities at degree-granting postsecondary institutions (NCES 2011–018). U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. U.S. Government Printing Office.

 https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2011/2011018.pdf
- Readhead, A., & Owen, F. (2020). Employment supports and outcomes for persons with intellectual and/or developmental disabilities: A review of recent findings. *Current Developmental Disorders Reports*, 7(3), 155–162. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40474-020-00202-0
- Reichard, A., Stransky, M., Brucker, D., & Houtenville, A. (2019). The relationship between employment and health and health care among working-age adults with and without disabilities in the United States. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 41(19), 2299–2307. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2018.1465131
- Ressa, T. (2022). Dreaming college: Transition experiences of undergraduate students with disabilities. *Psychology in the Schools*, *59*(6), 1175–1191. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.22675
- Rillotta, F., Rozengarten, T., Arthur, J., & Mahar, C. (2014). Inclusive post-secondary education:

 The university experience for people with an intellectual disability. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 27(4), 293.

- Rillotta, F., Arthur, J., & Hutchinson, C. (2020). Inclusive university experience in Australia:

 Perspectives of students with intellectual disability and their mentors. *Journal of Intellectual Disabilities*, 24(1), 102–117. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744629518769421
- Robertson, J., Hatton, C., Beyer, S., Emerson, E., & Baines, S. (2019). The association between employment and the health of people with intellectual disabilities: A systematic review.

 Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities, 32(12), 1335–1348.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/jar.12632
- Rossetti, Z., Lehr, D., Pelerin, D., Huang, S., & Lederer, L. (2016). Parent involvement in meaningful post-school experiences for young adults with IDD and pervasive support needs. *Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, *54*(4), 260–272. http://doi.org/10.1352/1934-9556-54.4.260
- Rossman, G., & Rallis, S. (2016). An introduction to qualitative research: Learning in the field.

 Sage.
- Rumi, A., Heron, L., & Burke, S. L. (2021). Evaluating a postsecondary education program for students with intellectual disabilities: Leveraging the parent perspective. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *51*(7), 2229–2240. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-020-04676-0
- Ryan, J. B., Randall, K. N., Walters, E., & Morash-MacNeil, V. (2019). Employment and independent living outcomes of a mixed model post-secondary education program for young adults with intellectual disabilities. *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 50(1), 61–72. https://doi.org/10.3233/JVR-180988
- Sanford, N. (1956). Personality development during the college years. *The Personnel and Guidance Journal*, 35(2), 74–80. https://doi.org/10.3233/JVR-180988

- Sannicandro, T., Parish, S. L., Fournier, S., Mitra, M., & Paiewonsky, M. (2018). Employment, income, and SSI effects of postsecondary education for people with intellectual disability.

 *American Journal on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities, 123(5), 412–425.

 https://doi.org/10.3233/JVR-180988
- Scanlon, G., & Doyle, A. (2021). Transition stories: Voices of school leavers with intellectual disabilities. *British Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 49(4), 456–466. https://doi.org/10.1111/bld.12433
- Schaffer, H. R. (2006). Constructivism and social constructivism. *Key concepts in developmental psychology*. Sage Publications.
- Schwartz, A., & Kramer, J. M. (2018). "I just had to be flexible and show good patience":

 Management of interactional approaches to enact mentoring roles by peer mentors with developmental disabilities. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 40(20), 2364–2371.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2017.1334835
- Shanay, M., Wiener, J., & Assido, M. (2013). Friendship predictors of global self-worth and domain-specific self-concepts in university students with and without learning disabilities. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 46(5), 444–452. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022219412436977
- She, P., & Livermore, G. A. (2009). Long-term poverty and disability among working-age adults. *Journal of Disability Policy Studies*, *19*(4), 244–256. https://doi.org/10.1177/1044207308314954
- Shifrer, D., Callahan, R. M., & Muller, C. (2013). Equity or marginalization? The high school course-taking of students labeled with a learning disability. *American Educational Research Journal*, 50(4), 656–682. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831213479439

- Shogren, K. A., Gross, J. M., Forber-Pratt, A. J., Francis, G. L., Satter, A. L., Blue-Banning, M., & Hill, C. (2015). The perspectives of students with and without disabilities on inclusive schools. *Research and Practice for Persons With Severe Disabilities*, 40(4), 243–260. https://doi.org/10.1177/1540796915583493
- Shutaleva, A., Martyushev, N., Nikonova, Z., Savchenko, I., Kukartsev, V., Tynchenko, V., & Tynchenko, Y. (2023). Sustainability of inclusive education in schools and higher education: Teachers and students with special educational needs. *Sustainability*, *15*(4), 3011. https://doi.org/10.3390/su15043011
- Silver, P., Bourke, A., & Strehorn, K. C. (1998). Universal instructional design in higher education: An approach for inclusion. *Equity & Excellence in Education*, 31(2), 47–51. https://doi.org/10.1080/1066568980310206
- Skills and Employability Department. 2007. Strategies for Skills Acquisition and Work for People with Disabilities in Southern Africa. https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_emp/-ifp_skills/documents/publication/wcms_107784.pdf (accessed on 1 July 2022).
- Special issue: Inclusive post-secondary education and persons with disabilities. (2023).

 *International Journal of Discrimination and the Law, 23(1–2), 3–3.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/13582291231173761
- Spencer, P., Van Haneghan, J. P., Baxter, A., Chanto-Wetter, A., & Perry, L. (2021). "It's ok, mom. I got it!": Exploring the experiences of young adults with intellectual disabilities in a postsecondary program affected by the COVID-19 pandemic from their perspective and their families' perspective. *Journal of Intellectual Disabilities*, 25(3), 405–414. https://doi.org/10.1177/17446295211002346

- Staiti, A. (2014). The life-world as the source of nature and culture: Towards a transcendental-phenomenological worldview. In A. Staiti, *Husserl's transcendental phenomenology:*Nature, spirit, and life (pp. 222–263). Cambridge University Press.

 https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107588875.008
- Stefánsdóttir, G. V., & Björnsdóttir, K. (2016). 'I am a college student' postsecondary education for students with intellectual disabilities. *Scandinavian Journal of Disability Research*, 18(4), 328–342. https://doi.org/10.1080/15017419.2015.1114019
- Stylianidou, N., & Mavrou, K. (2021). Exploring adolescents' understandings of disability in a blended environment of interactions. *Education Sciences*, 11(11), 681. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci11110681
- Taylor, J., Avellone, L., Cimera, R., Brooke, V., Lambert, A., & Iwanaga, K. (2021). Costbenefit analyses of employment services for individuals with intellectual and developmental disabilities: A scoping review. *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 54(2), 193–206. http://doi.org/10.3233/JVR-201130
- Tideman, M., Kristén, L., & Szönyi, K. (2023). The preparation for entry into adulthood-supported decision-making in upper secondary school for students with intellectual disability. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 38(2), 155–167. https://doi.org/10.1080/08856257.2022.2045814
- Tinto, V. (2012). Completing college: Rethinking institutional action. University of Chicago Press.
- Uditsky, B., & Hughson, E. (2012). Inclusive postsecondary education—An evidence-based moral imperative. *Journal of Policy and Practice in Intellectual Disabilities*, *9*(4), 298–302. https://doi.org/10.1111/jppi.12005

- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2018, June 21). *Archived news releases: Persons with a disability: Labor Force Characteristics* 2017. https://www.bls.gov/bls/news-release/
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2023). Persons with a disability: Labor force characteristics summary. https://www.bls.gov/news.release/disabl.nr0.htm
- U.S. Department of Education. (2008). *Higher Education Opportunity Act-2008*. http://www2.ed.gov/policy/highered/leg/hea08/index.html
- U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2016). *Persons With a Disability: Labor Force Characteristics—2015*. Washington, DC: Author. Retrieved March 17, 2017, from https://www.bls.gov/news.release/pdf/disabl.pdf.
- U.S. Department of Labor. (2020, February 26). Persons with a disability: Labor force characteristics—2019. https://www.bls.gov/news.release/pdf/disabl.pdf
- Unicef. (2023). *Inclusive education*. https://www.unicef.org/education/inclusive-education
- University of Minnesota Duluth. (2017, January 23). The social model of disability. https://itss.d.umn.edu/articles/ally-social-model-disability
- Vagle, M. D. (2018). *Crafting phenomenological research* (2nd ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315173474
- Valle-Flórez, R. E., de Caso Fuertes, A. M., Baelo, R., & García-Martín, S. (2021). Faculty of education professors' perception about the inclusion of university students with disabilities. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(21), Article 11667. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph182111667
- Vygotsky, L. (1978). Mind in society. Harvard University Press.

- Watts, G. W., López, E. J., & Davis, M. T. (2023). "The change was as big as night and day": Experiences of professors teaching students with intellectual disabilities. *Journal of Intellectual Disabilities*. https://doi.org/10.1177/17446295221148791
- Wehman, P., Taylor, J., Brooke, V., Avellone, L., Whittenburg, H., Ham, W., Brooke, A. M., & Carr, S. (2018). Toward competitive employment for persons with intellectual and developmental disabilities: What progress have we made and where do we need to go.

 *Research and Practice for Persons With Severe Disabilities, 43(3), 131–144.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1540796918777730
- Weldon, E., and S. Riddell. 2007. Transition into and Out of Higher Education: The Experiences of 'Disabled' Students. Edinburgh: Scotland University of Edinburgh.

 http://arts.gtc.org.uk(gtcni/handle/2428/49096
- Wilson, K., E., Getzel, & Brown, T. (2000). Enhancing the post-secondary campus climate for students with disabilities. *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 14(1), 37–50.
- Wilson, H., Bialk, P., Freeze, T. B., & Lutfiyya, Z. M. (2012). Heidi's and Philip's stories:

 Transitions to post-secondary education. *British Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 40(2), 87–93. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-3156.2012.00746.x
- Wilson, N. J., Jacques, H., Johnson, A., & Brotherton, M. L. (2016). From social exclusion to supported inclusion: Adults with intellectual disabilities discuss their lived experiences of a structured social group. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 30, 847–858. https://doi.org/10.1111/jar.12275
- Winsor, J., Lyons, O., Butterworth, J., & Kennedy-Lizotte, R. (2017). A systematic approach to revising Florida's integrated employment funding system. Prepared for Florida

 Developmental Disabilities Council. Institute for Community Inclusion and the National

- Association of State Directors of Developmental Disabilities Services. Retrieved from https://www.fddc.org/sites/default/files/A%20Systematic%20
 Approach%20to%20Revising%20Florida.Final.10.9.17.pdf
- Wyoming Work Force. (2015, March 24). *The history of vocational rehabilitation* [video]. YouTube. https://youtu.be/Z7-kCT1S51c?si=GrNROFMwgyJ2mjj0
- Yeo, R. (2001). *Chronic poverty and disability. Background paper number 4*. Somerset: Chronic Poverty Research Centre.

 www.chronicpoverty.org/uploads/publication_files/WP04_Yeo.pdf
- Zakour, M. J., & Gillespie, D. F. (2013). Community disaster vulnerability: Theory, research, and practice. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-5737-4
- Zhang, D., Grenwelge, C., & Petcu, S. (2018). Preparing individuals with disabilities for inclusive employment through the postsecondary access and training in human services (PATHS) program. *Inclusion (Washington, D.C.)*, 6(3), 224–233. https://doi.org/10.1352/2326-6988-6.3.224

Appendix A

IRB Approval Letter

LIBERTY UNIVERSITY. INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD

October 23, 2023

Jami Granberry Susan Stanley

Re: IRB Exemption - IRB-FY23-24-283 A Phenomenological Study Of The Lived Experiences Of Individuals With Intellectual Disabilities And Their Participation In Post-secondary Job Training Programs: A Qualitative Study

Dear Jami Granberry, Susan Stanley,

The Liberty University Institutional Review Board (IRB) has reviewed your application in accordance with the Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP) and Food and Drug Administration (FDA) regulations and finds your study to be exempt from further IRB review. This means you may begin your research with the data safeguarding methods mentioned in your approved application, and no further IRB oversight is required.

Your study falls under the following exemption category, which identifies specific situations in which human participants research is exempt from the policy set forth in 45 CFR 46:104(d):

Category 2.(iii). Research that only includes interactions involving educational tests (cognitive, diagnostic, aptitude, achievement), survey procedures, interview procedures, or observation of public behavior (including visual or auditory recording) if at least one of the following criteria is met:

The information obtained is recorded by the investigator in such a manner that the identity of the human subjects can readily be ascertained, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects, and an IRB conducts a limited IRB review to make the determination required by §46.111(a)(7).

For a PDF of your exemption letter, click on your study number in the My Studies card on your Cayuse dashboard. Next, click the Submissions bar beside the Study Details bar on the Study

143

details page. Finally, click Initial under Submission Type and choose the Letters tab toward the bottom of the Submission Details page. Your information sheet and final versions of your study

documents can also be found on the same page under the Attachments tab.

Please note that this exemption only applies to your current research application, and any modifications to your protocol must be reported to the Liberty University IRB for verification of continued exemption status. You may report these changes by completing a modification

If you have any questions about this exemption or need assistance in determining whether possible modifications to your protocol would change your exemption status, please email us at irb@liberty.edu.

Sincerely,

G. Michele Baker, PhD, CIP

submission through your Cayuse IRB account.

Administrative Chair

Research Ethics Office

Appendix B

September 12, 2023

MEMORANDUM

TO: Jami Granberry

FROM: Andrea Stamper, Director, QEP & Assessment

SUBECT: Permission to include REDACTED students in research

This letter is to confirm that Jami Granberry has permission to include REDACTED students in her "Phenomenological Study of the lived experiences of individuals with intellectual disabilities and their participation in Post-Secondary job training programs: A Qualitative Study" research project. Melissa Morlock, Director of Transitional Studies, will coordinate with Ms. Granberry on access to the REDACTED students.

This approval is contingent upon the study team providing me with a copy of all Liberty University IRB approved documents prior to conducting any study activities.

Please contact me if you need any additional information.

Respectfully,

Andrea Stamper
Director, QEP & Assessment
Office of Planning & Research
REDACTED
REDACTED
REDACTED

Appendix C

Recruitment Flyer

Research Participants Needed

A Study of The Lived Experiences of Individuals with Intellectual Disabilities and Their Participation In Post-Secondary Job Training Programs: A Qualitative Study

- Are you between the ages of 18 and 50?
- Are you currently enrolled in the C.A. program at P.C.C?

If you answered **yes** to each of the questions listed above, you may be eligible to participate in a research study.

The purpose of this research study is to describe the lived experiences of individuals with I.D. in the C.A. program at P.C.C.

Participants will be asked to participate in a one-on-one interview (1 hour), three journal writing prompts (30 minutes), a focus group (1 hour), and member checking (1 hour).

If you would like to participate, contact the researcher at the phone number or email address provided below.

Jami Granberry REDACTED jvgranberry@liberty.edu

A consent document will be given to you at the time of the interview.

Jami Granberry, a doctoral candidate in the School of Education at Liberty University, is conducting this study.

Please contact Jami Granberry at REDACTED or jvgranberry@liberty.edu for more information.

Recruitment Verbal

Hello Potential Participant,

As a graduate student in the School of Education at Liberty University, I am conducting research as part of the requirements for a doctoral degree. The purpose of my research is to describe the lived experiences of individuals enrolled in the inclusive C.A. program located at P.C.C. and if you meet my participant criteria and are interested, I would like to invite you to join my study.

Participants must be college aged students between the ages of 18 and 50 who have a documented intellectual disability and are enrolled in the C.A. program at P.C.C. Participants, if willing, will be asked to participate in one-on-one audio-recorded interviews, journal prompts, audio-recorded focus groups and member checking. It should take approximately 4 hours to complete the procedures listed. Names and other identifying information will be requested as part of this study, but the information will remain confidential.

Would you like to participate and or allow your student to participate?

[Yes] Great, can we set up a time for an interview? [No], I understand. Thank you for your time. [Conclude the conversation.]

A consent document will be emailed before your scheduled interview time to give time to review the document. The consent document contains additional information about my research. If you choose to participate, you will need to sign the consent document and return it to me at the time of the interview.

Thank you for your time. Do you have any questions?

Appendix D

Consent

Title of the Project: Understanding the Experiences of People with Intellectual Disabilities in College Programs

Principal Investigator: Jami Granberry, Doctoral Candidate, School of Education, Liberty University

Invitation to be Part of a Research Study

We want to invite you to join a special research project. To join, you need to be between 18 and 50 years old and have a known learning challenge. This includes things like Autism, Williams Syndrome, Down Syndrome, or a brain injury. You should have a proper diagnosis from a doctor or school. You should also be a part of the C.A. Program at the community college.

You don't have to join if you don't want to. It's your choice. But before you decide, make sure to read this whole paper and ask any questions you have.

What is the study about and why is it being done?

We are conducting a study to learn about the experiences of people with intellectual disabilities in college programs. We want to know how they feel about being in college and what they think about their experiences.

What will happen if you take part in this study?

If you decide to be part of this study, you will:

- 1. Have a conversation with us (interview) that will take about 1 hour. We will talk about your experiences.
- 2. Write down your thoughts on a few topics, and each time will take about 10 minutes. You'll have two weeks to do this.
- 3. Join a group chat with a few other students who are also in college programs. We will talk together for about 1 hour.
- 4. Help us make sure we understood what you said. This might take about 1 hour.

How could you or others benefit from this study?

This study won't give you any personal benefits, but it could help colleges, universities, and employers understand how to support students with disabilities better. By sharing your experiences, you can contribute to making our society more inclusive and helping people with disabilities find better job opportunities.

What risks might you experience from being in this study?

Joining this study is very safe, and you won't face any unusual risks. If you talk about child abuse, neglect, or someone wanting to hurt themselves or others during our conversation, we have to tell the right people to keep everyone safe.

How will personal information be protected?

We will keep everything you say private. We won't use your real name when we talk about your answers. Our interviews will be in a private place, and we will make sure no one else hears us. While we can't promise complete privacy in group chats, we'll do our best to keep what's said there confidential. Your information might be used in future studies, but we will remove any details that could identify you.

Is study participation voluntary?

You don't have to join this study if you don't want to. It won't change your relationship with Liberty University or your college program. You can say "no" to any question or leave the study at any time.

What should you do if you decide to withdraw from the study?

If you decide you don't want to be in the study later, just let us know. We'll stop using your information, except for group chat information, which we won't share if you leave.

Whom do you contact if you have questions or concerns about the study?

If you have questions now or later, you can talk to Jami Granberry at REDACTED or jvgranberry@liberty.edu. You can also contact Dr. Susan Stanley at skstanley@liberty.edu.

Whom do you contact if you have questions about your rights as a research participant?

If you have any questions or concerns regarding this study and would like to talk to someone other than the researcher, **you are encouraged** to contact the IRB. Our physical address is Institutional Review Board, 1971 University Blvd., Green Hall Ste. 2845, Lynchburg, VA, 24515; our phone number is 434-592-5530, and our email address is <u>irb@liberty.edu</u>.

Disclaimer: The Institutional Review Board (IRB) is tasked with ensuring that human subjects research will be conducted in an ethical manner as defined and required by federal regulations. The topics covered and viewpoints expressed or alluded to by student and faculty researchers are those of the researchers and do not necessarily reflect the official policies or positions of Liberty University.

Your Consent

By signing this paper, you agree to be part of this study. Make sure you understand the study before you sign. You'll get a copy for yourself. We'll keep a copy too. If you have questions after signing, you can ask us.

I have read and understood this information. I agree to be part of the study.
[] Yes, you can record me.
[] No, you can't record me.
Printed Name:
Signature:
Date:
Legally Authorized Representative Permission
If you are someone's legal guardian, you can give permission for them to be in the study.
I have read and understood this information. I agree to let the person named below join the study.
[] Yes, you can record the person.
[] No, you can't record the person.
Printed Name of the Person in the Study:
Printed Name of the Person in the Study: Printed Name of Legal Guardian:
Printed Name of Legal Guardian:

Appendix E

Journal Prompts

Journal Prompt 1:

Using 4-5 sentences, please tell me about some of the things that you have done since you started in the C.A. program at P.C.C. These things could be activities, projects, or classes you have done since being in the C.A. program.

Journal Prompt 2:

Using 4-5 sentences, please tell me about the teachers in the C.A. program at P.C.C. You could talk about your favorite activities you have done with the teachers, things they have taught you, ways the teachers help you, or any other things you would want to share about your teachers.

Journal Prompt 3:

Using 4-5 sentences, tell me about the students within the C.A. program as well as outside of the program. Who are your friends within the Academy and outside the Academy. Do they help you on campus? Do they talk to you when they see you on campus? Do you do any activities with students outside of the C.A. program?